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Independent Auditor�s Report 

Board of Trustees 
The Greater Washington Educational 
 Telecommunications Association, Inc. 
Arlington, Virginia 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Greater Washington Educational 
Telecommunications Association, Inc. and Subsidiary (WETA or the Organization), which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30, 2025, and the related consolidated 
statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying 2025 consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of WETA as of June 30, 2025 and the changes 
in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor�s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of WETA and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 
in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Other Matter 
 
The 2024 consolidated financial statements of WETA were audited by other auditors, whose report 
dated December 9, 2024 expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether 
there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about 
WETA�s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated 
financial statements are available to be issued. 
 
Auditor�s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor�s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

� Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

� Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence 
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 

� Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of WETA�s internal control. Accordingly, no 
such opinion is expressed. 

� Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

� Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about WETA�s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 
 

 
 
December 1, 2025 



Consolidated Financial Statements 



June 30, 2025 2024

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 27,952,407$       16,049,597$         
Accounts receivable, net of credit losses allowance of $95,639

and $100,216 in 2025 and 2024, respectively 6,819,786 11,205,060
Pledges receivable, net of allowance of $0

and $15,426 in 2025 and 2024, respectively 7,143,318 9,580,621
Investments 60,863,762 55,482,813
Deferred compensation investments 2,743,310 2,667,894
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,496,071 2,484,789
Right-of-use lease asset — operating 2,489,401 2,704,282
Film assets 60,253,651         54,805,310           
Property and equipment, net 58,679,029         63,629,472           

Total assets 229,440,735$     218,609,838$       

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 4,576,322$         8,468,299$           
Deferred revenue 917,512              869,570               
Deferred gain on sale of assets -                      2,045,675            
Refundable advances 9,399,747           9,278,792            
Deferred compensation liability 2,743,310           2,667,894            
Lease liability — operating 2,625,213           2,822,845            
Loan payable 200,000              200,000               

Total liabilities 20,462,104         26,353,075           

Commitments and Contingencies 

Net Assets
Without donor restrictions:

Undesignated 60,855,248         55,162,404           
Board designated 31,056,923         35,977,375           

Total net assets without donor restrictions 91,912,171         91,139,779           

With donor restrictions 117,066,460       101,116,984         

Total net assets 208,978,631       192,256,763         

Total liabilties and net assets 229,440,735$     218,609,838$       

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

The Greater Washington Educational Telecommunications
Association, Inc. and Subsidiary

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
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Years ended June 30, 2025 2024

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions

Revenues and other support, including amounts released from restrictions
Production funding from Public Broadcasting System 22,868,092$       25,577,313$         
Corporate underwriting and funding 6,753,117           6,163,987            
Membership and individual contributions 32,127,008         30,909,896          
Foundations and nonprofit organization contributions 309,776              1,340,611            
Federal, state, and local government grants 964,499              2,698,622            
Rental income and other 3,403,842           3,100,512            
Contributions of nonfinancial assets 1,292,920           10,841,609          

Total changes in net assets without donor restriction 67,719,254         80,632,550          

Net assets released from restrictions:
Production funding from Public Broadcasting System 9,022,995           9,023,402            
Corporate underwriting and funding 7,281,613           9,450,921            
Membership and individuals contributions 8,544,090           25,945,015          
Foundations and nonprofit organizations 30,804,549         48,093,844          
Federal, state, and local government grants 253,199              253,555               
Contributions of nonfinancial assets 108,333              200,000               

Total net assets released from restrictions 56,014,779         92,966,737          

Total revenues and other support without donor restrictions 123,734,033       173,599,287         

Expenses
National programming and productions 67,431,307         82,261,561          
Television broadcast operations 15,394,381         14,151,878          
Radio broadcast operations 3,022,340           3,083,115            
Promotion, education, and outreach 9,358,202           8,820,346            
Fundraising and membership development 6,881,255           7,230,408            
Underwriting and grant solicitation 3,170,494           3,267,841            
Management and general 15,579,311         15,743,194          

Total expenses 120,837,290       134,558,343         

Change in net assets without donor restrictions, before other changes 2,896,743           39,040,944          

Other changes
Net investment return 3,125,800           1,887,002            
Loss on disposal of property and equipment (55,984)              (427,374)              
Gain on sale of production center 1,492,790           -                         
Amortization of gain on sale of production center 552,885              1,326,924            
Depreciation and amortization (6,812,164)         (3,575,164)           
Interest expense (1,246)                (830)                    
Property tax expense (426,443)            (473,728)              
Other nonoperating income -                         39                       

Total other changes (2,124,362)         (1,263,131)           

Total change in net assets without donor restrictions 772,381              37,777,813          

Changes in net assets with donor restrictions
Television production and other restricted contributions 68,402,477         56,693,627          
Endowment investment return 3,035,432           3,262,756            
Endowment distributions (1,498,686)         (2,020,982)           
Endowment gifts 2,025,043           2,059,790            
Net assets released from restrictions (56,014,779)       (92,966,737)         

Total change in net assets with donor restrictions 15,949,487         (32,971,546)         

Change in net assets 16,721,868         4,806,267            

Net assets, beginning of year 192,256,763       187,450,496         

Net assets, end of year 208,978,631$     192,256,763$       

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

The Greater Washington Educational Telecommunications

Consolidated Statements of Activities

Association, Inc. and Subsidiary
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Years ended June 30, 2025 2024

Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets 16,721,868$       4,806,267$           
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash 

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 6,812,164           3,575,164             
Unrealized and realized loss on investments (4,356,207) (3,170,923)
Change in unamortized discount on pledges receivable 39,532                -                          
Change in provision for allowance for credit losses (4,577) (20,460)                
Change in provision for allowance for pledges receivable (15,426)               15,426                 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 55,984 427,374               
Gain on sale of production center (1,492,790)          -                          
Amortization of gain on sale of production center (552,885) (1,326,924)
Amortization of right-of-use asset — operating 214,881              209,082               
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in:
Accounts and pledges receivable 6,803,049           12,443,945           
Prepaid expenses and other assets (11,282)               (709,578)              
Film assets (5,448,341)          (8,012,850)           

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (3,891,977)          (4,082,402)           
Lease liability — operating (197,632)             (186,797)              
Refundable advances 120,955              (733,270)              
Deferred revenue 47,942                146,810               

Net cash provided by operating activities 14,845,258         3,380,864             

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investment securities (74,455,170)        (2,807,435)           
Sales of investment securities 73,430,419         2,614,770             
Purchases of property and equipment (1,917,697)          (14,777,207)          

Net cash used in investing activities (2,942,448)          (14,969,872)          

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from loan payable -                          200,000               

Net cash provided by financing activities -                          200,000               

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11,902,810         (11,389,008)          

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 16,049,597         27,438,605           

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 27,952,407$       16,049,597$         

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid 1,246$                830$                    
Operating cash outflows — payments on operating leases -                          275,161               

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

The Greater Washington Educational Telecommunications
Association, Inc. and Subsidiary

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The Greater Washington Educational Telecommunications Association, Inc. (WETA) is a nonprofit 
Washington, D.C. corporation chartered in 1953 to operate a public television and public FM radio 
station. 
 
NewsHour Productions LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WETA, was formed in May 2014, for the 
primary business purpose of producing the PBS NewsHour program and other related activities. 
NewsHour Productions LLC is a single member limited liability company (NHP LLC) with WETA as its 
sole member. WETA and NHP LLC are collectively referred to as the Organization. NHP LLC is 
consolidated with WETA for financial statement and tax purposes. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (U.S. GAAP). 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of WETA and NHP LLC, collectively the 
Organization. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
The consolidated financial statements presentation follows the recommendations of the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC or the Codification). As 
required by the Not-for-Profit Entities topics of the Codification, the Organization is required to 
report information regarding its consolidated financial position and activities according to two 
classes of net assets: net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor restrictions. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Management believes that the estimates and assumptions are reasonable in the circumstances; 
however, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
 
The Organization considers highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or 
less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents except for the cash accounts held as part of 
investments. 
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Accounts Receivable 

The Organization recognizes an allowance for credit losses for financial assets carried at amortized 
cost to present the net amount expected to be collected as of the consolidated statements of 
financial position date. Such allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life 
of the asset (contractual term) which includes consideration of prepayments and is based on the 
Organization�s expectation as of the reporting date. 

Assets are written off when the Organization determines that such receivables are deemed 
uncollectible. Write-offs are recognized as a deduction from the allowance for credit losses. 
Expected recoveries of amounts previously written off, not to exceed the aggregate of the amount 
previously written off, are included in determining the necessary reserve at the reporting date. 
 
The Organization pools its financial assets based on similar risk characteristics in estimating 
expected credit losses. In situations where certain assets do not share the same risk characteristics 
with other assets, the Organization measures the expected credit losses for those as needed from 
period to period as risk characteristics change. 

The Organization determines its estimated credit losses for accounts receivable using an expected 
loss rate approach based on the accounts receivable aging schedule in determining its lifetime 
expected credit losses on its receivables from customers. This method is used for calculating an 
estimate of losses based primarily on the Organization's historical loss experience by accounts 
receivable aging bucket. 
 
In determining its loss rates, the Organization evaluates information related to its historical losses, 
adjusted for current conditions, and further adjusted for the period of time that the Organization 
can reasonably forecast. For the period of time beyond which the Organization cannot reasonably 
forecast, reversion to historical amounts is applied based on the facts and circumstances as of the 
reporting date. The Organization was able to reasonably support a forecast period of one year after 
the reporting date. Qualitative and quantitative adjustments related to current conditions and the 
reasonable and supportable forecast period consider all of the following: the customers� 
creditworthiness, changes in policy and procedures, existence, and effect of any concentration of 
credit and changes in the level of such concentrations, and the current and forecasted direction of 
the economic and business environment. 
 
Accounts receivable include trade accounts receivable and are stated at net realizable value. The 
Organization records and maintains an allowance for expected credit losses based upon the 
expected collectability of receivables based on the collection risk. This primarily includes exchange-
based receivables related to productions. Management recorded a credit loss allowance of $95,639 
and $100,216 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk 
 
The Organization maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts, which, at times, may exceed federally 
insured limits. The Organization has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The Organization 
believes it is not exposed to any significant financial risk on cash. Amounts on deposit in excess of 
federally insured limits approximate $27.2 million at June 30, 2025. 
 
The Organization invests in a professionally managed portfolio that contains various securities that 
are exposed to risks, such as interest, market and credit. Due to the level of risk associated with 
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such investments, and the level of uncertainty related to changes in the value of such investments, 
it is at least reasonably possible that changes in risks in the near-term could materially affect 
investment balances and the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. The 
Organization�s receivables balance consists primarily of amounts due from foundations and 
corporations. Historically, the Organization has not experienced significant losses related to the 
accounts and pledge receivable balances and, therefore, believes that the credit risk related to 
them is minimal. 
 
Contracts Balances 
 
The timing of revenue recognition may not align with the right to invoice. The Organization records 
accounts receivable when it has the unconditional right to issue an invoice and receive payment, 
regardless of whether revenue has been recognized. If revenue has not yet been recognized, a 
contract liability (deferred revenue) also is recorded. If revenue is recognized in advance of the 
right to invoice, a contract asset (unbilled receivable) is recorded.  
 
Pledges Receivable  
 
Unconditional promises to give are recorded as contribution revenue in the period in which the 
Organization is notified by the donor of an unconditional commitment to make a contribution. The 
Organization�s management periodically reviews the status of all promises to give balances for 
collectability. For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the allowance for doubtful pledges was 
$0 and $15,426, respectively.  
 
Investments 
 
The Organization reports investments at estimated fair value. Investment return reported in the 
consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets is net of all external and direct 
internal investment management expenses. Interest and dividend income is accounted for on the 
accrual basis. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on investments, including changes in market 
value, are reported in the consolidated statement of activities and changes in net assets as increases 
or decreases in net assets without donor restrictions unless their use is restricted by donor 
stipulation. 
 
Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values as well as investments in 
mutual and exchange-traded funds are reported at quoted market prices. 
 
Leases 
 
The Organization determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception, which is the date 
on which the terms of the contract are agreed to, and the agreement creates enforceable rights 
and obligations. A contract is or contains a lease when (i) explicitly or implicitly identified assets 
have been deployed in the contract and (ii) the Organization obtains substantially all of the 
economic benefits from the use of that underlying asset and directs how and for what purpose the 
asset is used during the term of the contract. The Organization also considers whether its service 
arrangements include the right to control the use of an asset. 
 
The Organization made an accounting policy election available under ASC 842, Leases, not to 
recognize right-of-use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities for leases with a term of 12 months or less. 
For all other leases, ROU assets and lease liabilities are measured based on the present value of 
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future lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date of the lease or the year 
beginning July 1, 2022, for existing leases upon the adoption of ASC 842. The ROU assets also include 
any initial direct costs incurred and lease payments made at or before the commencement date and 
are reduced by any lease incentives. To determine the present value of lease payments, the 
Organization made an accounting policy election available to nonpublic companies to utilize a 
risk-free borrowing rate, which is aligned with the lease term at the lease commencement date or 
remaining term for leases existing upon the adoption of ASC 842. 
 
The Organization has made an accounting policy election to account for lease and nonlease 
components in its contracts as a single lease component for its real estate asset class. The nonlease 
components typically represent additional services transferred to the Organization, such as common 
area maintenance for real estate, which are variable in nature and recorded in variable lease 
expense in the period incurred. 
 
Film Assets 
 
The Organization capitalizes the production costs of television programs. The capitalized costs are 
direct costs of production and production overhead. The costs are recognized as expense when the 
program segment is first aired. All film assets are for direct-to-television projects and all capitalized 
film assets relate to projects which have not aired at June 30, 2025 and 2024. The Organization 
expects approximately $33,000,000 and $10,300,000 of film assets to be expensed during the years 
ending June 30, 2026 and 2027, respectively. The Organization expects approximately $16,800,000 
of film assets to be expensed during the years ending after June 30, 2027. 
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Contributed property is recorded at the estimated fair 
value at the date of contribution. The Organization capitalizes all expenditures for property and 
equipment over $5,000. The useful life of the asset is determined on a case-by-case basis, and the 
estimated useful lives currently range from one to 31.5 years. Depreciation and amortization are 
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. When assets 
are sold or otherwise disposed of, the asset and related accumulated depreciation and amortization 
are removed from the accounts, and any remaining gain or loss is included in operations. Repairs 
and maintenance are charged to expense when incurred. 
 
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets 
 
The Organization accounts for the valuation of long-lived assets by reviewing such assets for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of the long-lived asset is measured by comparison of 
the carrying amount of the asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated 
by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is 
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated fair 
value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reportable at the lower of the carrying amount or 
fair value, less costs to sell. Management believes that no events have occurred that would cause 
such an impairment for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024.  
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Deferred Revenue 

Deferred revenue represents receipts for local broadcast underwriting in advance of the revenue 
being earned. 

Deferred Gain on Sale of Assets 

Deferred gain on sale of assets represents the unamortized portion of the Organization�s gain from 
a sale of assets due to the Organization entering into a leaseback transaction at the time of the 
sale. 

Refundable Advances 

Refundable advances represent cash received from grantors for which some or all of the grant 
conditions were not yet met. Conditions of a grant primarily include completion of project tasks 
and related expenditures as well as the right of return for funds transferred if all conditions are not 
met. 
 
Conditional Awards as a Resource Provider 
 
The Organization records awards issued as conditional when there is a barrier and a right of release 
or return. The Organization records the expense and revenue as barriers are substantially met. 

Net Assets 

Unconditional contributions are classified based on the existence or absence of donor- imposed 
restrictions. Accordingly, the net assets of the Organization and changes therein are classified and 
reported as follows: 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions - Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed 
restrictions. Revenue is reported as an increase in net assets without donor restrictions unless use 
of the related asset is limited by donor-imposed restrictions. All expenses are reported as decreases 
in net assets without donor restrictions. Gains and losses on investments and other assets or 
liabilities are reported as an increase or decrease in net assets without donor restrictions unless 
their use is restricted by explicit donor stipulation or by law. 
 
 
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions - Net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions that may or 
will be met either by the actions of the Organization and/or the passage of time. Releases of 
restrictions on net assets are reported as releases from net assets with donor restrictions to net 
assets without donor restrictions when the donor-stipulated purpose has been fulfilled or the 
stipulated time period has elapsed. Certain net assets with donor restrictions must be held in 
perpetuity by the Organization. 
 
Endowment 
 
The Organization�s endowment consists of individual funds established for a variety of purposes that 
are subject to varying levels of donor-imposed restrictions and funds designated by the Board of 
Trustees. 
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The Organization classifies amounts restricted by the donor to be preserved in perpetuity as net 
assets with donor restrictions. Earnings from all donor-restricted funds are classified as net assets 
with donor restrictions until such time as they are appropriated for use. Both the principal and 
earnings of Board- designated funds are classified as net assets without donor restrictions. 
Investment income and investment gains and losses are attributed to individual endowment funds 
in proportion to their pro rata share of the investment balance at the beginning of the fiscal year. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
The Organization�s revenue streams from contracts with customers are composed of certain 
production funding, certain corporate underwriting, royalty revenue, ancillary, and other revenue. 
The Organization earned approximately $22,900,000 and $25,600,000 in production funding from 
contracts with customers during the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The 
Organization earned approximately $6,800,000 and $6,200,000 in corporate underwriting from 
contracts with customers during the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The 
Organization�s revenue is recognized when a given performance obligation is satisfied, either over 
a period of time or at a point in time. The Organization�s revenue under contract with customers is 
earned in the United States and the majority of customers are corporate partners and supporters of 
the Organization. 
 
Production funding and corporate underwriting from contracts with customers are recognized at the 
time the related production airs. Rental income is recognized over the lease period as the rental 
services are provided. Royalty includes copyright administration provided to member stations and 
is recognized ratably over the contract period. Ancillary and other revenue are earned and 
recognized when the goods and services are rendered. Rental, royalty, ancillary and other revenues 
are presented as rental income and other on the accompanying consolidated statements of 
activities. 
 
The Organization�s revenue from contracts with customers are generally for one year or less. The 
contracts do not include significant financing components and do not have variable considerations. 
The Organization did not have any impairment or credit losses on any receivables or contract assets 
arising from contracts with customers. The primary factor affecting future revenue and cash inflows 
is corporate underwriting. Management does not believe there is a material risk of loss for future 
revenue and cash inflows related to corporate underwriting. 
 
Grants and Contributions 
 
The Organization receives contributions and grants from entities to underwrite the cost of some of 
its programs and productions. Unconditional grants and contributions are recognized when received 
and are recorded as net assets with donor restrictions or net assets without donor restrictions, 
depending on the existence and/or nature of any donor restrictions. All donor-restricted revenue is 
reported as an increase in net assets with donor restrictions. When a restriction expires (that is, 
when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished), net assets with 
donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the 
consolidated statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 
 
Conditional grant and contribution revenue is recorded only to the extent that barriers, such as 
qualifying expenditures, have been substantially satisfied, in accordance with the agreements. 
Conditional grant and contribution revenue where donor restrictions are satisfied as barriers are 
substantially met are recorded with net assets without donor restrictions. If advances of funds are 
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received for these agreements, the amount received is initially recorded as refundable advances in 
the consolidated statements of financial position. As qualifying expenses are incurred and the 
barriers are met, revenue is also recorded in the same amount by reducing refundable advances. 
 
Membership and contributions from individuals are unconditional contributions, which include 
unconditional contributions receivable, are recognized as support at the earlier of the period 
received or when the promise is made. Conditional promises to give are not included as revenue 
until the barriers are substantially met. 
 
Contributions of Nonfinancial Assets 
 
The Organization receives contributed goods and services from outside parties to assist with 
outreach, education, fundraising and advertising. Contributed nonfinancial assets are recorded at 
fair value on the date received based on (i) vendor rate cards, invoices, or arm�s-length market 
pricing for similar goods or services; (ii) stated contract values for media/barter arrangements; and 
(iii) standard billing rates and hours for contributed professional services. Related expenses are 
presented within the appropriate natural expense categories in the consolidated statements of 
functional expenses (e.g., advertising and promotion, professional services, and other program and 
supporting services), consistent with the nature of the underlying goods or services. 
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The value of contributed non-financial assets, without donor restrictions, received were as follows 
(dollars in thousands):  
 
Years ended June 30,  2025 2024 

Type of Service Valuation Techniques  

Legal network Hourly rates by type of services used 
by the law firms that provide the 
service $ 245,520 $ - 

Advertising and media Determined using the average market 
rate for comparable advertising and 
media services, as established by the 
media company providing the service 547,400 - 

Streaming devices  Market rate of streaming device 
sticks  500,000 - 

Rent expense Market rate for rental of similar
facilities, reflecting the typical cost
for comparable rental arrangements 108,333 200,000 

Production costs Average market rate for similar 
production services, reflecting 
standard charges in the industry - 10,469,109 

Travel and entertainment Market rate for comparable travel and
entertainment services, based on
prevailing rates for such services - 372,500 

 $ 1,401,253 $ 11,041,609 

Expenses 

Expenses are recognized during the period in which they are incurred. Expenses paid in advance and 
not yet incurred are deferred to the applicable period. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The costs of providing various program and supporting activities have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities and functional expenses. 
Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and supporting services 
benefited. Overhead costs such as depreciation, benefits, occupancy, telephone, rent and utilities 
have been allocated based on personnel costs and employee headcount. 
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The following program and supporting services are included in the consolidated statements of 
functional expenses. 

National Programming and Production - This program includes national program development, 
NewsHour productions, and the production center facility. 

Television Broadcast Operations - This program includes TV station program acquisition and 
scheduling functions, as well as the master control and engineering functions related to television. 
 
Radio Broadcast Operations - This program includes radio station program acquisition and scheduling 
functions, as well as the FM studio and engineering functions related to radio. 
 
Promotion, Education, and Outreach - This program includes communications, learning media and 
audience services. 
 
Fundraising and Membership Development - This supporting service category includes the 
departments focused on raising a high volume of relatively low dollar membership gifts from 
individuals, as well as major giving. 

Underwriting and Grant Solicitation - This supporting service category includes foundation and 
government development, and local and national corporate program and production underwriting. 

Management and General - This supporting service category includes the functions necessary to 
support the proper administrative functioning of the Organization such as human resources, 
management information systems, accounting and finance, legal, executive offices and facilities. 

Advertising 

Advertising expenditures are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $1,409,787 and 
$1,264,285 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

Income Taxes 

WETA is recognized as exempt from federal income taxes, except on unrelated activities, under 
Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 501(c)(3). The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has also 
determined that WETA is not a private foundation under IRC Section 509(a)(1). NHP LLC is a single 
member LLC and is a disregarded entity for federal income tax purposes. Therefore, the 
Organization is generally not subject to tax under present income tax laws; however, any unrelated 
business income may be subject to federal and state income taxes. The Organization has processes 
presently in place to ensure the maintenance of its tax-exempt status; to identify and report 
unrelated income; to determine its filing and tax obligations in jurisdictions for which it has nexus; 
and to identify and evaluate other matters that may be considered tax positions. 
 
The Organization believes it has appropriate support for any tax position taken and, as such, does 
not have any uncertain tax positions that are material to the consolidated financial statements. No 
interest expense and penalties related to income taxes on uncertain tax positions were recognized 
for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. The Organization is generally no longer subject to 
income tax examinations by the U.S. federal, state or local tax authorities for the years ended 
June 30, 2022 and prior. 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 

In March 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject 
to Contractual Sale Restrictions (Topic 820). The amendments clarify that a contractual restriction 
on the sale of an equity security is not considered part of the unit of account of the equity security 
and, therefore, is not considered in measuring fair value. Early adoption is permitted, and the 
updates should be applied prospectively with any adjustments from the adoption of the amendments 
recognized in the change in net asset and disclosed on the date of adoption. For all non-public 
entities, this ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2025. The Organization 
is evaluating the effect that adoption of this new standard will have on the Organization�s 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
In July 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-05, Financial Instruments�Credit losses (Topic 326): 
Measurement of Credit Losses for Accounts Receivable and Contract Assets for Private Companies 
and Certain Not-for-Profit Entities (PCC). The ASU amends ASC 326, Financial Instruments�Credit 
Losses, and allows all entities to elect a practical expedient that all entities can use when estimating 
expected credit losses for current accounts receivable and current contract assets arising from 
transactions accounted for under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The guidance 
also allows entities other than public business entities (PBEs) that apply the practical expedient to 
make an accounting policy election to consider collection activity after the balance sheet date when 
estimating expected credit losses. This update is effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2025. The Organization continues to evaluate the potential impact of this ASU. 
 
The Organization has assessed other accounting pronouncements issued or effective during the year 
ended June 30, 2025 and deemed they were not applicable to the Organization or are not 
anticipated to have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
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2. Liquidity and Availability of Resources 

The Organization regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its annual operating needs and other 
contractual commitments while also striving to maximize the return on investment of its funds not 
required for annual operations. Financial assets available to meet general expenditures over the 
next 12 months consist of the following: 
 
June 30, 2025 2024 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,952,407 $ 16,049,597 
Accounts receivable, net 6,819,786 11,205,060 
Pledges receivable, net 7,143,318 9,580,621 
Investments 60,863,762 55,482,813 

Total Financial Assets, at year-end 102,779,273 92,318,091 

Less amounts not available to be used within one year:   
 Receivables due after one year (1,880,854) (2,666,945) 
 Board-designated funds (31,056,923) (35,977,375) 
 Donor-restricted funds, net of film assets (56,812,809) (46,311,674) 

Financial Assets Not Available to be Used for General  
 Expenditures (89,750,586) (84,955,994) 

Financial Assets Available to Meet General Expenditures  
 Over the Next 12 Months $ 13,028,687 $ 7,362,097 

Donor-restricted funds $ (117,066,460) $ (101,116,984) 
Film assets 60,253,651 54,805,310 

Donor-Restricted Funds, net of film assets $ (56,812,809) $ (46,311,674) 

The Organization also has a line-of-credit with $4,000,000 in unused funds available as of 
June 30, 2025, that will expire on March 27, 2026, and a line-of-credit with $5,000,000 in unused 
funds available as of June 30, 2025, that expired on August 1, 2025 and was not renewed by the 
Organization subsequently. 

3. Pledges Receivable  

Contributions receivable, net, as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 were valued at $7,143,318 and 
$9,580,621, respectively. Unconditional contributions that are expected to be received more than 
one year into the future are discounted using weighted-average risk-free rate of 3.76% and 2.42% 
for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. Amortization of the discount is recorded as additional 
contribution revenue, typically ratably, and is used in accordance with donor-imposed restrictions, 
if any, on the contributions. When necessary, an allowance is made for uncollectible contributions, 
based upon management�s judgment, past collection experience, and other relevant factors. For 
the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization wrote off $20,000 and $33,852 of 
receivables, respectively. 
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Pledges receivables are expected to be collected over the following periods: 
 
Years ended June 30, 2025 2024 

Due in less than one year $ 5,457,777 $ 7,084,883 
Due after one year and before five years 1,880,854 2,666,945 
Discount of long-term receivables (195,313) (155,781) 
Allowance for doubtful pledges - (15,426) 

 $ 7,143,318 $ 9,580,621 

Long-term receivables arise primarily from grants and contributions restricted to fund television 
projects, which often have multi-year production schedules. 
 
Conditional grants are recognized as revenue when the specific barriers detailed in the grant, such 
as incurring allowable expenses, are substantially met. At June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization 
had approximately $6,150,000 and $9,760,000, respectively, of outstanding conditional 
contributions not reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Refundable 
advances are recorded when a grantor makes a cash advance payment on a conditional grant and 
the Organization has not yet met the stipulated barriers and are presented on the accompanying 
consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
The Organization receives support in the form of contributions from its Board members in the 
ordinary course of business. 
 
4. Investments and Fair Value Measurement 

The Organization follows the Codification topic, Fair Value Measurement. The topic applies to all 
assets and liabilities that are being measured and reported on a fair value basis. The topic 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with GAAP and expands disclosure 
about fair value measurements. The topic enables the reader of the consolidated financial 
statements to assess the inputs used to develop those measurements by establishing a hierarchy for 
ranking the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. The topic 
requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the 
following three categories: 

Level 1 � This level consists of quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. 

Level 2 � This level consists of observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs corroborated 
by market data. 
 
Level 3 � This level consists of unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data. 
 
In determining the appropriate levels, the Organization performs a detailed analysis of the assets 
and liabilities that are subject to the topic. At each reporting period, all assets and liabilities for 
which the fair value measurement is based on significant unobservable inputs are classified as 
Level 1. The Organization had no Level 2 or Level 3 investments at June 30, 2025 and 2024. 
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The tables below present the balances of assets and liabilities, measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis by level within the hierarchy: 

June 30, 2025     

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Asset Category     
 Money market fund $ 933,806 $ - $ - $ 933,806 

 Equity mutual and exchange traded funds: 
  Large blend 17,942,118 - - 17,942,118 
  International growth and value 15,628,673 - - 15,628,673 
  Small cap blend 3,183,465 - - 3,183,465 
  Mid cap blend 1,318,092 - - 1,318,092 
  Emerging markets 1,187,227 - - 1,187,227 
  High yield 47,904 - - 47,904 

 39,307,479 - - 39,307,479 

 Fixed income mutual funds:  - -  
  Intermediate term 12,564,335 - - 12,564,335 
  Short-term 9,247,841 - - 9,247,841 
  High yield 1,322,625 - - 1,322,625 
  Emerging markets 230,986 - - 230,986 

 23,365,787  -  - 23,365,787 

Total Assets at Fair Value $ 63,607,072 $ - $ - $ 63,607,072 

Total Investments at Fair Value    $ 60,863,762 

Total Deferred Compensation  
 Investments at Fair Value    2,743,310 

    $ 63,607,072 

Liabilities     
 Deferred compensation plan liabilities $ - $ 2,743,310 $ - $ 2,743,310 

Total Liabilities at Fair Value $ - $ 2,743,310 $ - $ 2,743,310 
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June 30, 2024     

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Asset Category     
 Money market fund $ 300,816 $ - $ - $ 300,816 

 Equity mutual and exchange traded funds:     
  Large blend 21,004,284 - - 21,004,284 
  International growth and value 12,992,578 - - 12,992,578 
  Small cap blend 49,232 - - 49,232 
  Mid cap blend 902,433 - - 902,433 
  Emerging markets 70,693 - - 70,693 

 35,019,220 - - 35,019,220 

 Fixed income mutual funds:     
  Intermediate term 18,792,212 - - 18,792,212 
  Short-term 3,871,945 - - 3,871,945 
  High yield 95,821 - - 95,821 
  Emerging markets 70,693 - - 70,693 

 22,830,671 - - 22,830,671 

Total Assets at Fair Value $ 58,150,707 $ - $ - $ 58,150,707 

Total Investments at Fair Value    $ 55,482,813 

Total Deferred Compensation  
 Investments at Fair Value    2,667,894 

    $ 58,150,707 

Liabilities     
 Deferred compensation plan liabilities $ - $ 2,667,894 $ - $ 2,667,894 

Total Liabilities at Fair Value $ - $ 2,667,894 $ - $ 2,667,894 

The money market, mutual and exchange traded funds are considered Level 1 assets as they are 
actively traded on public exchanges. The deferred compensation plan liabilities are based on the 
fair value of the deferred compensation plan assets, which are observable inputs; however, the 
liabilities are not publicly traded and are, therefore, considered Level 2 items. 
 
Investment return, net of management fees consists of the following: 
 
Years ended June 30, 2025 2024 

Unrealized and realized gains $ 4,356,207 $ 3,170,923 
Interest and dividends 1,970,015 2,079,356 
Investment management fees (164,990) (100,521) 

$ 6,161,232 $ 5,149,758 

Net investment return $ 3,125,800 $ 1,887,002 
Endowment investment return 3,035,432 3,262,756 

 $ 6,161,232 $ 5,149,758 
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5. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consist of the following: 

June 30, 2025 2024 

Production and other equipment $ 44,903,103 $ 45,434,129 
Building and improvements 53,431,230 53,147,861 
Land 1,773,006 1,773,006 
Fixed assets purchased, but not yet placed in service 425,491 10,678 

 100,532,830 100,365,674 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (41,853,801) (36,736,202) 

Property and Equipment, Net $ 58,679,029 $ 63,629,472 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $6,812,164 and $3,575,164 for the years ended June 30, 
2025 and 2024, respectively. 

In January 2021, the Organization sold its Production Center building to Arlington County, Virginia 
for $8,000,000 and entered into a five-year leaseback agreement at a rate below fair market value. 
The resulting gain on sale of $6,634,621 was deferred and amortized over the life of the leaseback 
agreement. During the years ended June 30, 2021 through June 30, 2024, the Organization 
recognized deferred gain amortization totaling $4,588,947, leaving a remaining balance of 
$2,045,675 as of June 30, 2024. In December 2024, the Organization�s leaseback period concluded, 
and the Production Center building was formally returned to Arlington County, Virginia. As the 
Organization no longer occupied or maintained any rights or obligations related to the property, the 
remaining deferred gain of $1,492,790 was recognized in full as income during the year ended June 
30, 2025.  
 
As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the balance of deferred gain on the sale of assets was $0 and 
$2,045,675, respectively. Amortization of the deferred gain amounted to $552,885 and $1,326,924, 
respectively for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. 
 
6. Loan Payable 

On November 14, 2023, the Organization received an artwork valued at $200,000. The artwork is 
considered on loan to the Organization through November 13, 2026, unless otherwise directed by 
the lender. There is no interest or other financial obligations attached to the loan, and the artwork 
is expected to be returned at the end of the loan period. 

7. Lines-of-Credit 

The Organization has a revolving line of credit in the amount of $4,000,000 that expires on 
March 27, 2026. The Organization also had a revolving line of credit in the amount of $5,000,000 
that expired on August 1, 2025 and was not renewed subsequently. The Organization had no 
outstanding amounts due under the lines of credit at June 30, 2025 and 2024. 
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8. Retirement Plan 

The Organization provides retirement benefits for substantially all of its employees through a 403(b) 
defined contribution savings plan (the 403(b) Plan). The Organization�s financial liability under this 
plan is limited to current contributions. Total employer contributions to the 403(b) Plan were 
$3,590,118 and $3,577,387 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

9. Deferred Compensation Plan 

The Organization has a 457(b) deferred compensation plan (the 457(b) Plan). The Plan is intended 
to be a deferred compensation plan for corporate officers of the Organization in accordance with 
Section 457(b) of the IRC. The recorded asset and liability for the deferred compensation plan was 
$2,743,310 and $2,667,894 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

10. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions 

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes: 

June 30, 2025 2024 

Programmatic and time restrictions:   
 National television production $ 73,730,206 $ 65,199,448 
 Local broadcasting 2,354,485 2,326,111 
 Learning media projects 6,142,232 2,313,677 

Total Programmatic and Time Restrictions 82,226,923 69,839,236 

Donor-restricted endowment funds:   
 The Leonore Annenberg Endowment 6,261,133 5,737,763 
 Capital Campaign Fund�Program Trust 12,855,902 12,279,588 
 Eugene B. Casey Endowment 1,783,240 1,909,102 
 Eugene B. Casey Journalism Endowment 4,276,926 2,017,690 
 Fisher Endowment 1,534,697 1,473,553 
 Arts Program Fund 3,141,716 3,313,854 
 Arts Endowment Fund 4,274,454 3,917,151 
 John and Martha Giovanelli Endowed Fund of Science and 
  Education 113,897 104,376 
 Other named endowments 597,572 524,671 

Total Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds 34,839,537 31,277,748 

Net Assets with Donor Restrictions $ 117,066,460 $ 101,116,984 

During the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization released $56,014,779 and 
$92,966,737, respectively, from donor-restricted net assets. 

The donor-restricted endowment funds are comprised of the following: 

The Leonore Annenberg Endowment - The Annenberg Foundation established The Leonore 
Annenberg Endowment to support projects that are important, national in scope and consistent with 
the values and integrity of its namesake. As of September 30, each year, the Organization will 
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determine the fund�s fair value, including income and both realized and unrealized gains and losses 
net of fees, and calculate the amount that may be withdrawn. 

Capital Campaign Fund�Program Trust - The Capital Campaign Fund was established to help fund 
the development of new facilities and to create an endowment to support the development of radio 
and television programming for public broadcasting. The National Endowment for the Humanities 
awarded the Organization a $562,000 endowment challenge grant, which was matched by 
$2,443,421 from private sources. Net assets associated with these grants are recorded as net assets 
with donor restrictions, except for $500,000 that is recorded in net assets without donor restrictions 
having been applied toward the purchase of equipment pursuant to donor restrictions. Income 
generated by this fund is applied to the development of radio and television programming for public 
broadcasting. 
 
Eugene B. Casey Endowments - The Eugene B. Casey Foundation made a $1,000,000 donor-restricted 
contribution to establish the Eugene B. Casey Endowment Fund. The income from this endowment 
is used to provide programming for children and young people that enriches them through knowledge 
of their bodies, minds and spirits. During the year ended June 30, 2024, the Foundation made an 
additional $2,000,000 donor-restricted contribution to establish a separate endowment fund. This 
new endowment supports excellence in journalism through the SPR Excellence in Journalism Award 
and the PBS NewsHour News Assistants program, fostering the next generation of journalists. 
 
Fisher Endowment - The Robert M. Fisher Memorial Foundation, Inc. established a $1,000,000 
program Endowment Fund at the Organization. The Fisher Endowment Fund will be used to acquire, 
produce and broadcast television and radio programs in the fulfillment of the mission of the 
Organization. The Organization will use 5% of the value of the fund as of December 31 the year 
prior, or $50,000, whichever is greater, each year. If the earnings are less than $50,000 in any one 
year, the $50,000 shall be funded by the earnings and an amount from principal to bring the annual 
total to $50,000. The Organization only used principal amount in the first year of this fund. 
 
Arts Endowment and Arts Program - The Organization previously received a $600,000 challenge 
grant from the National Endowment for the Arts (NEA). The Organization was required by the terms 
of the grant to provide matching contributions totaling $1,800,000. Together, the grant and 
matching funds were used to establish an Arts Endowment Fund of $1,000,000 and an Arts Program 
Fund of $1,400,000 (together, the Funds). The original principal of the Funds was restricted to be 
held in perpetuity under the terms of the original grants, though internal borrowing from the Arts 
Program Fund principal is permitted. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization had not 
borrowed from the Funds. NEA subsequently informed the Organization that the restriction on the 
Funds had been removed. The Organization then reclassified $2,200,000 of those funds into net 
assets without donor restrictions. The Arts Program Fund of $200,000 remains in net assets with 
donor restrictions since the funds were matching funds and have not been released from restriction 
by the donors. 
 
John and Martha Giovanelli Endowed Fund for Science and Education - The Organization received 
$100,000 in endowment contributions from a donor. The purpose of this fund is to provide general 
operating support for WETA Television in support of science and education programming. The 
income earned from the fund will be made available annually to the Organization to support general 
operations. 
 
Other named endowments - During fiscal years 2025 and 2024, the Organization received no other 
named endowment contributions. 
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11. Endowment 

The Organization�s endowment consists of individual funds established for a variety of purposes. As 
required by GAAP, net assets associated with endowment funds are classified and reported based 
on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions and designations by the Board of Trustees. 
The Organization follows the Codification subtopic, Reporting Endowment Funds. 
 
Interpretation of the Relevant Law 
 
The Board of Trustees has interpreted the Virginia enacted version of the Uniform Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of 
the original gifts as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit donor 
stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the Organization classifies as 
donor-restricted permanent endowment net assets: (a) the original value of gifts donated to the 
donor-restricted permanent endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the 
donor-restricted permanent endowment, and (c) the accumulations to the donor-restricted 
permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift 
instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the 
donor-restricted endowment fund that is classified as donor-restricted net assets, until those 
amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Organization in a manner consistent with the 
standard of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA. In accordance with UPMIFA, the Organization considers 
the following factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted 
endowment funds: 
 

 The purposes of the Organization�s endowment fund 

 The duration and preservation of the funds 

 General economic conditions 

 The possible effect of inflation and deflation 

 The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments 

Other available financial resources 

 Investment policies 
 
At June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization had endowment funds totaling $65,896,460 and 
$67,255,123, respectively. 
 
Donor-restricted endowment funds are described in Note 10. 
 
Board-designated funds are described below: 
 
WETA Endowment Fund - To provide a continued source of income for operations or to fund special 
projects, capital improvements or emergency needs. 
 
Capital Building Fund - To be used for the purchase of capital assets without obligation (or donor 
expectation) to preserve any amount of capital. 
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Program Investment Fund - To provide a continuing source of investment capital for expenditure in 
the development of and participation in projects of interest to the Organization. 
 
Strategic Initiatives Funds - To fund new initiatives that are strategically important to the future of 
the Organization. 
 
Program Fund for Excellence - To be used to develop programming of intellectual integrity and 
cultural merit and to support other projects related to the mission of the Organization. 
 
The distribution of endowment net assets between donor-restricted and board-designated are as 
follows: 
 
Year ended June 30, 2025    

 
Without Donor 

Restrictions 
With Donor 
Restrictions Total 

Program Trust Fund $ - $ 12,855,902 $ 12,855,902 
Leonore Annenberg Endowment - 6,261,133 6,261,133 
Arts Program Fund - 3,141,716 3,141,716 
Arts Endowment Fund - 4,276,926 4,276,926 
Eugene B. Casey Endowment - 1,783,240 1,783,240 
Eugene B. Casey Journalism Endowment - 4,274,454 4,274,454 
Fisher Endowment - 1,534,697 1,534,697 
John and Martha Giovanelli Endowed  
 Fund of Science and Education - 113,897 113,897 
Other named endowments - 597,572 597,572 

Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds - 34,839,537 34,839,537 

WETA Endowment Fund 8,819,772 - 8,819,772 
Capital Building Fund 5,353,138 - 5,353,138 
Program Investment Fund 6,437,561 - 6,437,561 
WETA Strategic Initiative Fund 8,042,138 - 8,042,138 
Program Fund for Excellence 2,404,314 - 2,404,314 

Board-Designated Funds 31,056,923 - 31,056,923 

Total Endowment Net Assets $ 31,056,923 $ 34,839,537 $ 65,896,460 
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Year ended June 30, 2024    

Without Donor 
Restrictions 

With Donor 
Restrictions Total 

Program Trust Fund $ - $ 12,279,588 $ 12,279,588 
Leonore Annenberg Endowment - 5,737,763 5,737,763 
Arts Program Fund - 3,313,854 3,313,854 
Arts Endowment Fund - 3,917,151 3,917,151 
Eugene B. Casey Endowment - 1,909,102 1,909,102 
Eugene B. Casey Journalism Endowment - 2,017,690 2,017,690 
Fisher Endowment - 1,473,553 1,473,553 
John and Martha Giovanelli Endowed  
 Fund of Science and Education - 104,376 104,376 
Other named endowments - 524,671 524,671 

Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds - 31,277,748 31,277,748 

WETA Endowment Fund 8,082,524 - 8,082,524 
Capital Building Fund 4,905,331 - 4,905,331 
Program Investment Fund 5,899,443 - 5,899,443 
WETA Strategic Initiative Fund 6,107,222 - 6,107,222 
Program Fund for Excellence 2,203,335 - 2,203,335 
WETA Capital Campaign: Building the  
 Future Fund 8,779,520 - 8,779,520 

Board-Designated Funds 35,977,375 - 35,977,375 

Total Endowment Net Assets $ 35,977,375 $ 31,277,748 $ 67,255,123 

Funds with Deficiencies 

The fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds may fall below 
the level that the donor requires the Organization to retain as a fund of perpetual duration. As of 
June 30, 2025 and 2024, no funds had a deficiency.  
 
Changes in endowment net assets were as follows: 
 
Year ended June 30, 2025    

Without Donor 
Restrictions 

With Donor 
Restrictions Total 

Endowment Net Assets, beginning of year $ 35,977,375 $ 31,277,748 $ 67,255,123 
Investment income 556,478 535,091 1,091,569 
Investment gains, net 1,567,545 2,500,341 4,067,886 
Contributions and additions 1,735,045 2,025,043 3,760,088 
Distributions (8,779,520) (1,498,686) (10,278,206) 

Endowment Net Assets, end of year $ 31,056,923 $ 34,839,537 $ 65,896,460 
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Year ended June 30, 2024    

 
Without Donor 

Restrictions 
With Donor 
Restrictions Total 

Endowment Net Assets, beginning of year $ 37,227,735 $ 27,976,184 $ 65,203,919 
Investment income 923,214 743,474 1,666,688 
Investment gains, net 1,799,733 2,519,282 4,319,015 
Contributions and additions 2,734,715 2,059,790 4,794,505 
Distributions (6,708,022) (2,020,982) (8,729,004) 

Endowment Net Assets, end of year $ 35,977,375 $ 31,277,748 $ 67,255,123 

Endowment Investing Policies 

Endowments are aggregated into a single pool along with other investment funds to permit optimal 
asset allocation. The Organization�s primary investment objective is long-term growth to preserve 
and enhance the inflation-adjusted purchasing power of the total endowment. 
 
The Organization has a well-diversified investment portfolio. The Organization�s Investment 
Subcommittee monitors the portfolio and investment manager, and advises the Finance and Budget 
Committee of the Board of Trustees on investment matters in accordance with a written committee 
charter. 
 
Endowment Spending Policies 
 
Endowment gifts are spent in accordance with the wishes of the donor and guidance from the Board 
of Trustees. The Organization may not spend certain endowment earnings every year if projects 
that meet donor restrictions are not undertaken. If earnings are not used in a particular year, the 
Organization reinvests them for appropriate use in a future year. Allowable withdrawals that are 
not taken within a particular year may be withdrawn in subsequent years with the approval of the 
Organization�s Finance and Budget Committee. 
 
Donor-Restricted Endowment Funds 
 
Donor-restricted endowment funds consist of balances to be held in perpetuity and balances 
available for distribution. Donor-restricted funds are available for annual use per the stated criteria 
in the donor agreement. Most of the agreements allow for annual distributions in the amount of 4% 
to 5% of the prior year�s ending balance or of the prior three-year average balance. For any 
restricted endowments without stated terms, the Organization may annually withdraw up to 5% of 
the prior year�s ending balance. This rate is reviewed periodically by the Organization�s Finance and 
Budget Committee to ensure that it continues to be an appropriate rate to preserve the principal 
value in perpetuity. The remaining donor-restricted endowment funds followed the general 
guidelines outlined above. 
 
Board-Designated Funds 
 
The entire balance of each board-designated fund is available for distribution with proper approval, 
either from the Board of Trustees or Organization Management, depending on the fund. 
 
The decision whether to include withdrawal of money for a particular year�s annual budget is made 
by the Finance and Budget Committee and approved by the Board of Trustees. The Organization�s 
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Finance and Budget Committee may approve an extraordinary withdrawal to support essential 
operations in a significant or protracted economic downturn; cover critical capital expenditures 
lacking other sources of funding; provide cash flow for a strategic business initiative; or meet other 
organizational needs. 

12. Leases 

The Organization uses warehouse space, television towers, and related technical facilities under 
noncancelable operating leases that expire at various dates through 2035. Selected leases contain 
escalation clauses to cover increased operating expenses borne by the lessor. 

Operating lease cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The components of 
lease expense are as follows: 

Years ended June 30, 2025 2024 

Operating lease cost $ 297,447 $ 297,447 

Supplemental cash flow and balance sheet information related to leases is as follows: 

Years ended June 30, 2025 2024 

Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease
 liabilities:   
  Operating cash outflows�payments on operating leases $ 280,664 $ 275,161 

Operating leases:   
 Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 2,489,401 $ 2,704,282 

Operating lease liabilities, current $ 286,277 $ 280,664 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 2,338,936 2,542,181 

Total operating lease liabilities $ 2,625,213 $ 2,822,845 

Weighted-average remaining lease term:   
 Operating leases 9.8 years 10.8 years 
Weighted-average discount rate 3.02% 3.02% 
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Future undiscounted cash flows for each of the next five years and thereafter, and a reconciliation 
to the operating lease liabilities recognized on the consolidated statements of financial position are 
as follows as of June 30, 2025: 
 
Years ending June 30,  

2026 $ 286,277 
2027 292,003 
2028 297,843 
2029 303,800 
2030 309,876 
Thereafter 1,557,998 

Total Lease Payments 3,047,797 

Less: imputed interest (422,584) 

Total Present Value of Lease Liabilities $ 2,625,213 

13. Contingencies 

From time to time, the Organization may be subject to various legal proceedings, which are 
incidental to the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of the management of the Organization, 
there are no material pending legal proceedings against the Organization. 
 
All direct expenses and indirect rates charged under the Organization�s government grants are 
subject to audit by a government agency. Such audits could result in claims against the Organization 
for disallowed costs or noncompliance with grantor restrictions. No provision has been made for any 
liabilities that may arise from such audits, since management believes that the Organization is in 
compliance with all grant restrictions, and the amount of such liabilities, if any, cannot be 
determined. 
 
14. Gift Annuity Program 

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization�s obligation for annuity payments totaled $254,205 
and $211,145, respectively. This obligation is funded by a gift annuity reserve fund managed by 
Wells Fargo. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the fair value of assets held within the reserve fund 
totaled $1,037,620 and $880,056, respectively. The fair value of such assets exceeds the obligation 
for annuity payments by $783,415 and $668,911, respectively. 

15. Subsequent Events 

The Organization relies on significant annual funding from the Corporation for Public Broadcasting 
(CPB), primarily through the Community Service Grant (CSG) program and other CPB-supported 
initiatives. These funds are essential to advancing the Organization�s mission of delivering high-
quality public broadcasting services to the community. For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
the Organization received approximately $25.6 million (representing 21% of total support) and 
$24.0 million (17% of total support), respectively, from CPB. 
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Subsequent to June 30, 2025, on July 24, 2025, the Rescissions Act of 2025 was signed into law by 
the United States Congress rescinding $1.1 billion in funding that had been appropriated for CPB for 
fiscal years 2026 and 2027. Further, on July 31, 2025, the U.S. Senate Appropriations Committee 
released the Labor, Health and Human Services, Education, and Related Agencies Appropriations 
Act, 2026 which excluded funding for CPB for the first time in five decades from the United States 
Budget.  
 
As a result, CPB ceased operations due to the elimination of its federal funding. This development 
marks a significant shift in the public broadcasting environment and may impact the availability of 
federal support for public media organizations, including the Organization, in future periods. 
Management is actively evaluating the potential financial and operational implications of the loss 
of CPB funding and is considering strategies to mitigate its impact on future operations. As a result, 
management has introduced cost-reduction measures and the elimination of programs to address 
the loss of federal funding. The Organization continues to monitor and evaluate the financial and 
operational implications of these developments and will take further action, as necessary, to 
mitigate any potential risks. 
 
The Organization has evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure 
through December 1, 2025, the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be 
issued. The Organization is not aware of any subsequent events, other than the matter described 
above, which would require recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Trustees 
The Greater Washington Educational 
 Telecommunications Association, Inc. 
Arlington, Virginia 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Greater Washington Educational 
Telecommunications Association, Inc. and Subsidiary (WETA or the Organization), which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30, 2025, and the related consolidated 
statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying 2025 consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of WETA as of June 30, 2025 and the changes 
in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of WETA and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Other Matter 

The 2024 consolidated financial statements of WETA were audited by other auditors, whose report 
dated December 9, 2024 expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial 
statements. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether 
there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about 
WETA’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated 
financial statements are available to be issued. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they 
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of WETA’s internal control. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about WETA’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required 
by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. 
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the 
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
December 1, 2025 on our consideration of WETA’s internal control over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, 
and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of WETA’s internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards in considering WETA’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

December 1, 2025, except for the schedule of expenditures 
of Federal awards, for which the date is February 11, 2026. 
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June 30, 2025 2024

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 27,952,407$       16,049,597$         
Accounts receivable, net of credit losses allowance of $95,639

and $100,216 in 2025 and 2024, respectively 6,819,786           11,205,060           
Pledges receivable, net of allowance of $0

and $15,426 in 2025 and 2024, respectively 7,143,318           9,580,621            
Investments 60,863,762         55,482,813           
Deferred compensation investments 2,743,310           2,667,894            
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,496,071           2,484,789            
Right-of-use lease asset — operating 2,489,401           2,704,282            
Film assets 60,253,651         54,805,310           
Property and equipment, net 58,679,029         63,629,472           

Total Assets 229,440,735$     218,609,838$       

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 4,576,322$         8,468,299$           
Deferred revenue 917,512              869,570               
Deferred gain on sale of assets -                      2,045,675            
Refundable advances 9,399,747           9,278,792            
Deferred compensation liability 2,743,310           2,667,894            
Lease liability — operating 2,625,213           2,822,845            
Loan payable 200,000              200,000               

Total Liabilities 20,462,104         26,353,075           

Commitments and Contingencies 

Net Assets
Without donor restrictions:

Undesignated 60,855,248         55,162,404           
Board designated 31,056,923         35,977,375           

Total Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 91,912,171         91,139,779           

With donor restrictions 117,066,460       101,116,984         

Total Net Assets 208,978,631       192,256,763         

Total Liabilties and Net Assets 229,440,735$     218,609,838$       

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years ended June 30, 2025 2024

Changes in Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions

Revenues and other support, including amounts released from restrictions
Production funding from Public Broadcasting System 22,868,092$       25,577,313$         
Corporate underwriting and funding 6,753,117           6,163,987            
Membership and individual contributions 32,127,008         30,909,896          
Foundations and nonprofit organization contributions 309,776              1,340,611            
Federal, state, and local government grants 964,499              2,698,622            
Rental income and other 3,403,842           3,100,512            
Contributions of nonfinancial assets 1,292,920           10,841,609          

Total Changes in Net Assets Without Donor Restriction 67,719,254         80,632,550          

Net assets released from restrictions:
Production funding from Public Broadcasting System 9,022,995           9,023,402            
Corporate underwriting and funding 7,281,613           9,450,921            
Membership and individuals contributions 8,544,090           25,945,015          
Foundations and nonprofit organizations 30,804,549         48,093,844          
Federal, state, and local government grants 253,199              253,555               
Contributions of nonfinancial assets 108,333              200,000               

Total Net Assets Released from Restrictions 56,014,779         92,966,737          

Total Revenues and Other Support Without Donor Restrictions 123,734,033       173,599,287         

Expenses
National programming and productions 67,431,307         82,261,561          
Television broadcast operations 15,394,381         14,151,878          
Radio broadcast operations 3,022,340           3,083,115            
Promotion, education, and outreach 9,358,202           8,820,346            
Fundraising and membership development 6,881,255           7,230,408            
Underwriting and grant solicitation 3,170,494           3,267,841            
Management and general 15,579,311         15,743,194          

Total Expenses 120,837,290       134,558,343         

Change in Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions, before other changes 2,896,743           39,040,944          

Other Changes
Net investment return 3,125,800           1,887,002            
Loss on disposal of property and equipment (55,984)              (427,374)              
Gain on sale of production center 1,492,790           -                         
Amortization of gain on sale of production center 552,885              1,326,924            
Depreciation and amortization (6,812,164)         (3,575,164)           
Interest expense (1,246)                (830)                    
Property tax expense (426,443)            (473,728)              
Other nonoperating income -                         39                       

Total Other Changes (2,124,362)         (1,263,131)           

Total Change in Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 772,381              37,777,813          

Changes in Net Assets With Donor Restrictions
Television production and other restricted contributions 68,402,477         56,693,627          
Endowment investment return 3,035,432           3,262,756            
Endowment distributions (1,498,686)         (2,020,982)           
Endowment gifts 2,025,043           2,059,790            
Net assets released from restrictions (56,014,779)       (92,966,737)         

Total Change in Net Assets With Donor Restrictions 15,949,487         (32,971,546)         

Change in Net Assets 16,721,868         4,806,267            

Net Assets, beginning of year 192,256,763       187,450,496         

Net Assets, end of year 208,978,631$     192,256,763$       

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended June 30, 2025

National Television Radio Promotion, Total Fundraising and Underwriting Total
Programming Broadcast Broadcast Education, Program Membership and Grant Management Support Total

and Production Operations Operations and Outreach Services Development Solicitation and General Services Expenses

Compensation of officers and directors  $      2,900,522  $         348,667  $                   -  $                   -  $      3,249,189 -$                    -$                    2,641,895$       2,641,895$       5,891,084$       
Other salaries and wages 24,333,425       2,709,336         1,942,724         4,841,214         33,826,699       2,514,140         1,513,990         4,359,941         8,388,071         42,214,770       
Retirement plan contributions 2,016,571         262,972            158,406            345,517            2,783,466         184,499            97,765             524,388            806,652            3,590,118         
Other employee benefits 2,980,432         388,665            234,119            510,664            4,113,880         272,684            144,494            775,030            1,192,208         5,306,088         
Payroll taxes 1,866,401         243,389            146,610            319,787            2,576,187         170,760            90,485             485,338            746,583            3,322,770         
Production and acquisition costs 28,817,251       3,123,564         109,092            1,369,320         33,419,227       164,571            184,000            140,299            488,870            33,908,097       
Public Broadcasting Service dues -                      6,999,860         -                      -                      6,999,860         -                      -                      -                      -                      6,999,860         
Accounting fees -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      132,203            132,203            132,203            
Legal fees -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      220,808            220,808            220,808            
Other professional fees 315,324            -                      10,535             1,665               327,524            473,841            246,000            545,990            1,265,831         1,593,355         
Supplies 66,408             9,446               3,884               85,078             164,816            19,766             9,413               252,983            282,162            446,978            
Occupancy 756,804            585,742            159,530            100                  1,502,176         6,128               -                      1,701,058         1,707,186         3,209,362         
Telephone 129,538            68,350             29,163             5,625               232,676            61,924             -                      243,291            305,215            537,891            
Postage and shipping 24,553             7,206               424                  387,014            419,197            798,687            345                  11,610             810,642            1,229,839         
Equipment rental and maintenance 153,054            68,971             21,569             38,698             282,292            -                      973                  93,397             94,370             376,662            
Printing and publications 7,013               196                  -                      306,471            313,680            499,001            756                  -                      499,757            813,437            
Travel 1,895,705         34,664             7,286               72,869             2,010,524         77,970             2,155               18,531             98,656             2,109,180         
Conferences, conventions, and meetings 245,545            14,842             -                      277,987            538,374            109,287            1,311               10,929             121,527            659,901            
Advertising and promotions 66,509             63,416             710                  367,763            498,398            356,395            554,984            10                    911,389            1,409,787         
Memberships and affiliations 19,747             4,759               59,336             1,400               85,242             24,857             250                  192,484            217,591            302,833            
All other expenses 836,505            460,336            138,952            427,030            1,862,823         1,146,745         323,573            3,229,126         4,699,444         6,562,267         

Total Expenses, before other changes 67,431,307       15,394,381       3,022,340         9,358,202         95,206,230       6,881,255         3,170,494         15,579,311       25,631,060       120,837,290     

Depreciation and amortization 2,773,937         74,998             325,984            13,660             3,188,579         -                      -                      3,623,585         3,623,585         6,812,164         

Interest expense -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      1,246               1,246               1,246               
Property tax expense 14,769             5,980               24,590             -                      45,339             -                      -                      381,104            381,104            426,443            

Total 70,220,013$     15,475,359$     3,372,914$       9,371,862$       98,440,148$     6,881,255$       3,170,494$       19,585,246$     29,636,995$     128,077,143$    

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended June 30, 2024

National Television Radio Promotion, Total Fundraising and Underwriting Total
Programming Broadcast Broadcast Education, Program Membership and Grant Management Support Total

and Production Operations Operations and Outreach Services Development Solicitation and General Services Expenses

Compensation of officers and directors  $      2,987,753  $         367,286  $                   -  $                   - 3,355,039$       -$                    -$                    2,431,436$       2,431,436$       5,786,475$       
Other salaries and wages 24,786,037       2,857,731         2,021,831         4,585,821         34,251,420       2,518,343         1,532,832         4,618,406         8,669,581         42,921,001       
Retirement plan contributions 1,979,927         284,441            139,781            326,341            2,730,490         185,461            94,592             566,844            846,897            3,577,387         
Other employee benefits 2,899,263         416,515            204,686            477,870            3,998,334         271,576            138,514            830,046            1,240,136         5,238,470         
Payroll taxes 1,824,461         262,107            128,806            300,716            2,516,090         170,898            87,165             522,335            780,398            3,296,488         
Production and acquisition costs 43,749,231       3,262,984         99,908             1,176,159         48,288,282       107,678            483,000            198,636            789,314            49,077,596       
Public Broadcasting Service dues -                      4,863,662         -                      -                      4,863,662         -                      -                      -                      -                      4,863,662         
Accounting fees -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      385,127            385,127            385,127            
Legal fees -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      282,327            282,327            282,327            
Other professional fees 551,984            28,613             1,150               9,259               591,006            459,200            255,000            558,345            1,272,545         1,863,551         
Supplies 125,338            9,581               8,955               109,945            253,819            9,843               7,915               476,538            494,296            748,115            
Occupancy 426,532            577,130            135,717            50                    1,139,429         3,545               -                      1,933,921         1,937,466         3,076,895         
Telephone 129,659            68,591             31,458             7,037               236,745            54,199             -                      249,841            304,040            540,785            
Postage and shipping 20,721             7,592               473                  386,478            415,264            746,338            660                  14,515             761,513            1,176,777         
Equipment rental and maintenance 233,616            49,525             101,776            310,409            695,326            -                      4,859               225,867            230,726            926,052            
Printing and publications 5,656               159                  -                      340,456            346,271            511,380            -                      -                      511,380            857,651            
Travel 1,453,431         91,887             4,276               70,465             1,620,059         66,528             6,060               15,918             88,506             1,708,565         
Conferences, conventions, and meetings 136,650            22,819             485                  108,693            268,647            54,430             2,588               11,272             68,290             336,937            
Advertising and promotions 87,120             37,686             831                  410,104            535,741            350,424            378,118            -                      728,542            1,264,283         
Memberships and affiliations 7,431               35,424             69,882             937                  113,674            10,326             250                  182,068            192,644            306,318            
All other expenses 856,751            908,145            133,100            199,606            2,097,602         1,710,239         276,288            2,239,752         4,226,279         6,323,881         

Total Expenses, before other changes 82,261,561       14,151,878       3,083,115         8,820,346         108,316,900     7,230,408         3,267,841         15,743,194       26,241,443       134,558,343     

Depreciation and amortization 550,445            72,680             271,252            9,539               903,916            -                      -                      2,671,248         2,671,248         3,575,164         

Interest expense -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      830                  830                  830                  
Property tax expense 13,327             (816)                 24,138             -                      36,649             -                      -                      437,079            437,079            473,728            
Other nonoperating expense -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      (39)                  (39)                  (39)                  

Total 82,825,333$     14,223,742$     3,378,505$       8,829,885$       109,257,465$    7,230,408$       3,267,841$       18,852,312$     29,350,561$     138,608,026$    

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years ended June 30, 2025 2024

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Change in net assets 16,721,868$       4,806,267$           
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash 

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 6,812,164           3,575,164             
Unrealized and realized loss on investments (4,356,207)          (3,170,923)           
Change in unamortized discount on pledges receivable 39,532                -                          
Change in provision for allowance for credit losses (4,577)                 (20,460)                
Change in provision for allowance for pledges receivable (15,426)               15,426                 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 55,984                427,374               
Gain on sale of production center (1,492,790)          -                          
Amortization of gain on sale of production center (552,885)             (1,326,924)           
Amortization of right-of-use asset — operating 214,881              209,082               
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in:
Accounts and pledges receivable 6,803,049           12,443,945           
Prepaid expenses and other assets (11,282)               (709,578)              
Film assets (5,448,341)          (8,012,850)           

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (3,891,977)          (4,082,402)           
Lease liability — operating (197,632)             (186,797)              
Refundable advances 120,955              (733,270)              
Deferred revenue 47,942                146,810               

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 14,845,258         3,380,864             

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of investment securities (74,455,170)        (2,807,435)           
Sales of investment securities 73,430,419         2,614,770             
Purchases of property and equipment (1,917,697)          (14,777,207)          

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (2,942,448)          (14,969,872)          

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from loan payable -                          200,000               

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities -                          200,000               

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 11,902,810         (11,389,008)          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year 16,049,597         27,438,605           

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year 27,952,407$       16,049,597$         

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Interest paid 1,246$                830$                    
Operating cash outflows — payments on operating leases -                          275,161               

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

The Greater Washington Educational Telecommunications
Association, Inc. and Subsidiary
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1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Greater Washington Educational Telecommunications Association, Inc. (WETA) is a nonprofit 
Washington, D.C. corporation chartered in 1953 to operate a public television and public FM radio 
station. 

NewsHour Productions LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WETA, was formed in May 2014, for the 
primary business purpose of producing the PBS NewsHour program and other related activities. 
NewsHour Productions LLC is a single member limited liability company (NHP LLC) with WETA as its 
sole member. WETA and NHP LLC are collectively referred to as the Organization. NHP LLC is 
consolidated with WETA for financial statement and tax purposes. 

Basis of accounting 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (U.S. GAAP). 

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of WETA and NHP LLC, collectively the 
Organization. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Basis of presentation 

The consolidated financial statements presentation follows the recommendations of the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC or the Codification). As 
required by the Not-for-Profit Entities topics of the Codification, the Organization is required to 
report information regarding its consolidated financial position and activities according to two 
classes of net assets: net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor restrictions. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Management believes that the estimates and assumptions are reasonable in the circumstances; 
however, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash equivalents 

The Organization considers highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or 
less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents except for the cash accounts held as part of 
investments. 
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Accounts receivable 

The Organization recognizes an allowance for credit losses for financial assets carried at amortized 
cost to present the net amount expected to be collected as of the consolidated statements of 
financial position date. Such allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life 
of the asset (contractual term) which includes consideration of prepayments and is based on the 
Organization’s expectation as of the reporting date. 

Assets are written off when the Organization determines that such receivables are deemed 
uncollectible. Write-offs are recognized as a deduction from the allowance for credit losses. 
Expected recoveries of amounts previously written off, not to exceed the aggregate of the amount 
previously written off, are included in determining the necessary reserve at the reporting date. 

The Organization pools its financial assets based on similar risk characteristics in estimating 
expected credit losses. In situations where certain assets do not share the same risk characteristics 
with other assets, the Organization measures the expected credit losses for those as needed from 
period to period as risk characteristics change. 

The Organization determines its estimated credit losses for accounts receivable using an expected 
loss rate approach based on the accounts receivable aging schedule in determining its lifetime 
expected credit losses on its receivables from customers. This method is used for calculating an 
estimate of losses based primarily on the Organization's historical loss experience by accounts 
receivable aging bucket. 

In determining its loss rates, the Organization evaluates information related to its historical losses, 
adjusted for current conditions, and further adjusted for the period of time that the Organization 
can reasonably forecast. For the period of time beyond which the Organization cannot reasonably 
forecast, reversion to historical amounts is applied based on the facts and circumstances as of the 
reporting date. The Organization was able to reasonably support a forecast period of one year after 
the reporting date. Qualitative and quantitative adjustments related to current conditions and the 
reasonable and supportable forecast period consider all of the following: the customers’ 
creditworthiness, changes in policy and procedures, existence, and effect of any concentration of 
credit and changes in the level of such concentrations, and the current and forecasted direction of 
the economic and business environment. 

Accounts receivable include trade accounts receivable and are stated at net realizable value. The 
Organization records and maintains an allowance for expected credit losses based upon the 
expected collectability of receivables based on the collection risk. This primarily includes exchange-
based receivables related to productions. Management recorded a credit loss allowance of $95,639 
and $100,216 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
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Concentrations of credit risk 

The Organization maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts, which, at times, may exceed federally 
insured limits. The Organization has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The Organization 
believes it is not exposed to any significant financial risk on cash. Amounts on deposit in excess of 
federally insured limits approximate $27.2 million at June 30, 2025. 

The Organization invests in a professionally managed portfolio that contains various securities that 
are exposed to risks, such as interest, market and credit. Due to the level of risk associated with 
such investments, and the level of uncertainty related to changes in the value of such investments, 
it is at least reasonably possible that changes in risks in the near-term could materially affect 
investment balances and the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. The 
Organization’s receivables balance consists primarily of amounts due from foundations and 
corporations. Historically, the Organization has not experienced significant losses related to the 
accounts and pledge receivable balances and, therefore, believes that the credit risk related to 
them is minimal. 

Contracts balances 

The timing of revenue recognition may not align with the right to invoice. The Organization records 
accounts receivable when it has the unconditional right to issue an invoice and receive payment, 
regardless of whether revenue has been recognized. If revenue has not yet been recognized, a 
contract liability (deferred revenue) also is recorded. If revenue is recognized in advance of the 
right to invoice, a contract asset (unbilled receivable) is recorded.  

Pledges Receivable 

Unconditional promises to give are recorded as contribution revenue in the period in which the 
Organization is notified by the donor of an unconditional commitment to make a contribution. The 
Organization’s management periodically reviews the status of all promises to give balances for 
collectability. For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the allowance for doubtful pledges was 
$0 and $15,426, respectively.  

Investments 

The Organization reports investments at estimated fair value. Investment return reported in the 
consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets is net of all external and direct 
internal investment management expenses. Interest and dividend income is accounted for on the 
accrual basis. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on investments, including changes in market 
value, are reported in the consolidated statement of activities and changes in net assets as increases 
or decreases in net assets without donor restrictions unless their use is restricted by donor 
stipulation. 

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values as well as investments in 
mutual and exchange-traded funds are reported at quoted market prices. 
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Leases 

The Organization determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception, which is the date 
on which the terms of the contract are agreed to, and the agreement creates enforceable rights 
and obligations. A contract is or contains a lease when (i) explicitly or implicitly identified assets 
have been deployed in the contract and (ii) the Organization obtains substantially all of the 
economic benefits from the use of that underlying asset and directs how and for what purpose the 
asset is used during the term of the contract. The Organization also considers whether its service 
arrangements include the right to control the use of an asset. 

The Organization made an accounting policy election available under ASC 842, Leases, not to 
recognize right-of-use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities for leases with a term of 12 months or less. 
For all other leases, ROU assets and lease liabilities are measured based on the present value of 
future lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date of the lease or the year 
beginning July 1, 2022, for existing leases upon the adoption of ASC 842. The ROU assets also include 
any initial direct costs incurred and lease payments made at or before the commencement date and 
are reduced by any lease incentives. To determine the present value of lease payments, the 
Organization made an accounting policy election available to nonpublic companies to utilize a 
risk-free borrowing rate, which is aligned with the lease term at the lease commencement date or 
remaining term for leases existing upon the adoption of ASC 842. 

The Organization has made an accounting policy election to account for lease and nonlease 
components in its contracts as a single lease component for its real estate asset class. The nonlease 
components typically represent additional services transferred to the Organization, such as common 
area maintenance for real estate, which are variable in nature and recorded in variable lease 
expense in the period incurred. 

Film assets 

The Organization capitalizes the production costs of television programs. The capitalized costs are 
direct costs of production and production overhead. The costs are recognized as expense when the 
program segment is first aired. All film assets are for direct-to-television projects and all capitalized 
film assets relate to projects which have not aired at June 30, 2025 and 2024. The Organization 
expects approximately $33,000,000 and $10,300,000 of film assets to be expensed during the years 
ending June 30, 2026 and 2027, respectively. The Organization expects approximately $16,800,000 
of film assets to be expensed during the years ending after June 30, 2027. 

Property and equipment 

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Contributed property is recorded at the estimated fair 
value at the date of contribution. The Organization capitalizes all expenditures for property and 
equipment over $5,000. The useful life of the asset is determined on a case-by-case basis, and the 
estimated useful lives currently range from one to 31.5 years. Depreciation and amortization are 
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. When assets 
are sold or otherwise disposed of, the asset and related accumulated depreciation and amortization 
are removed from the accounts, and any remaining gain or loss is included in operations. Repairs 
and maintenance are charged to expense when incurred. 
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Valuation of long-lived assets 

The Organization accounts for the valuation of long-lived assets by reviewing such assets for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of the long-lived asset is measured by comparison of 
the carrying amount of the asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated 
by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is 
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated fair 
value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reportable at the lower of the carrying amount or 
fair value, less costs to sell. Management believes that no events have occurred that would cause 
such an impairment for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024.  

Deferred revenue 

Deferred revenue represents receipts for local broadcast underwriting in advance of the revenue 
being earned. 

Deferred gain on sale of assets 

Deferred gain on sale of assets represents the unamortized portion of the Organization’s gain from 
a sale of assets due to the Organization entering into a leaseback transaction at the time of the 
sale. 

Refundable advances 

Refundable advances represent cash received from grantors for which some or all of the grant 
conditions were not yet met. Conditions of a grant primarily include completion of project tasks 
and related expenditures as well as the right of return for funds transferred if all conditions are not 
met. 

Conditional awards as a resource provider 

The Organization records awards issued as conditional when there is a barrier and a right of release 
or return. The Organization records the expense and revenue as barriers are substantially met. 

Net assets 

Unconditional contributions are classified based on the existence or absence of donor- imposed 
restrictions. Accordingly, the net assets of the Organization and changes therein are classified and 
reported as follows: 

Net assets without donor restrictions - Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions. 
Revenue is reported as an increase in net assets without donor restrictions unless use of the related 
asset is limited by donor-imposed restrictions. All expenses are reported as decreases in net assets 
without donor restrictions. Gains and losses on investments and other assets or liabilities are 
reported as an increase or decrease in net assets without donor restrictions unless their use is 
restricted by explicit donor stipulation or by law. 
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Net assets with donor restrictions - Net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions that may or 
will be met either by the actions of the Organization and/or the passage of time. Releases of 
restrictions on net assets are reported as releases from net assets with donor restrictions to net 
assets without donor restrictions when the donor-stipulated purpose has been fulfilled or the 
stipulated time period has elapsed. Certain net assets with donor restrictions must be held in 
perpetuity by the Organization. 

Endowment 

The Organization’s endowment consists of individual funds established for a variety of purposes that 
are subject to varying levels of donor-imposed restrictions and funds designated by the Board of 
Trustees. 

The Organization classifies amounts restricted by the donor to be preserved in perpetuity as net 
assets with donor restrictions. Earnings from all donor-restricted funds are classified as net assets 
with donor restrictions until such time as they are appropriated for use. Both the principal and 
earnings of Board- designated funds are classified as net assets without donor restrictions. 
Investment income and investment gains and losses are attributed to individual endowment funds 
in proportion to their pro rata share of the investment balance at the beginning of the fiscal year. 

Revenue recognition 

The Organization’s revenue streams from contracts with customers are composed of certain 
production funding, certain corporate underwriting, royalty revenue, ancillary, and other revenue. 
The Organization earned approximately $22,900,000 and $25,600,000 in production funding from 
contracts with customers during the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The 
Organization earned approximately $6,800,000 and $6,200,000 in corporate underwriting from 
contracts with customers during the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The 
Organization’s revenue is recognized when a given performance obligation is satisfied, either over 
a period of time or at a point in time. The Organization’s revenue under contract with customers is 
earned in the United States and the majority of customers are corporate partners and supporters of 
the Organization. 

Production funding and corporate underwriting from contracts with customers are recognized at the 
time the related production airs. Rental income is recognized over the lease period as the rental 
services are provided. Royalty includes copyright administration provided to member stations and 
is recognized ratably over the contract period. Ancillary and other revenue are earned and 
recognized when the goods and services are rendered. Rental, royalty, ancillary and other revenues 
are presented as rental income and other on the accompanying consolidated statements of 
activities. 

The Organization’s revenue from contracts with customers are generally for one year or less. The 
contracts do not include significant financing components and do not have variable considerations. 
The Organization did not have any impairment or credit losses on any receivables or contract assets 
arising from contracts with customers. The primary factor affecting future revenue and cash inflows 
is corporate underwriting. Management does not believe there is a material risk of loss for future 
revenue and cash inflows related to corporate underwriting. 



The Greater Washington Educational Telecommunications 
Association, Inc. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

18 

Grants and contributions 

The Organization receives contributions and grants from entities to underwrite the cost of some of 
its programs and productions. Unconditional grants and contributions are recognized when received 
and are recorded as net assets with donor restrictions or net assets without donor restrictions, 
depending on the existence and/or nature of any donor restrictions. All donor-restricted revenue is 
reported as an increase in net assets with donor restrictions. When a restriction expires (that is, 
when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished), net assets with 
donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the 
consolidated statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 

Conditional grant and contribution revenue is recorded only to the extent that barriers, such as 
qualifying expenditures, have been substantially satisfied, in accordance with the agreements. 
Conditional grant and contribution revenue where donor restrictions are satisfied as barriers are 
substantially met are recorded with net assets without donor restrictions. If advances of funds are 
received for these agreements, the amount received is initially recorded as refundable advances in 
the consolidated statements of financial position. As qualifying expenses are incurred and the 
barriers are met, revenue is also recorded in the same amount by reducing refundable advances. 

Membership and contributions from individuals are unconditional contributions, which include 
unconditional contributions receivable, are recognized as support at the earlier of the period 
received or when the promise is made. Conditional promises to give are not included as revenue 
until the barriers are substantially met. 

Contributions of nonfinancial assets 

The Organization receives contributed goods and services from outside parties to assist with 
outreach, education, fundraising and advertising. Contributed nonfinancial assets are recorded at 
fair value on the date received based on (i) vendor rate cards, invoices, or arm’s-length market 
pricing for similar goods or services; (ii) stated contract values for media/barter arrangements; and 
(iii) standard billing rates and hours for contributed professional services. Related expenses are
presented within the appropriate natural expense categories in the consolidated statements of
functional expenses (e.g., advertising and promotion, professional services, and other program and
supporting services), consistent with the nature of the underlying goods or services.

    The remainder of this page intentionally left blank 
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The value of contributed non-financial assets, without donor restrictions, received were as follows 
(dollars in thousands):  

Years ended June 30, 2025 2024  

Type of service Valuation Techniques 

Legal network Hourly rates by type of services 
used by the law firms that provide 
the service $ 245,520 $ - 

Advertising and media Determined using the average 
market rate for comparable 
advertising and media services, as 
established by the media company 
providing the service 547,400 - 

Streaming devices Market rate of streaming device 
sticks  500,000 - 

Rent expense Market rate for rental of similar 
facilities, reflecting the typical cost 
for comparable rental arrangements 108,333 200,000 

Production costs Average market rate for similar 
production services, reflecting 
standard charges in the industry - 10,469,109 

Travel and entertainment Market rate for comparable travel 
and entertainment services, based 
on prevailing rates for such services - 372,500 

$ 1,401,253 $ 11,041,609  

Expenses 

Expenses are recognized during the period in which they are incurred. Expenses paid in advance and 
not yet incurred are deferred to the applicable period. 



The Greater Washington Educational Telecommunications 
Association, Inc. and Subsidiary 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

20 

Functional allocation of expenses 

The costs of providing various program and supporting activities have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities and functional expenses. 
Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and supporting services 
benefited. Overhead costs such as depreciation, benefits, occupancy, telephone, rent and utilities 
have been allocated based on personnel costs and employee headcount. 

The following program and supporting services are included in the consolidated statements of 
functional expenses. 

National Programming and Production - This program includes national program development, 
NewsHour productions, and the production center facility. 

Television Broadcast Operations - This program includes TV station program acquisition and 
scheduling functions, as well as the master control and engineering functions related to television. 

Radio Broadcast Operations - This program includes radio station program acquisition and scheduling 
functions, as well as the FM studio and engineering functions related to radio. 

Promotion, Education, and Outreach - This program includes communications, learning media and 
audience services. 

Fundraising and Membership Development - This supporting service category includes the 
departments focused on raising a high volume of relatively low dollar membership gifts from 
individuals, as well as major giving. 

Underwriting and Grant Solicitation - This supporting service category includes foundation and 
government development, and local and national corporate program and production underwriting. 

Management and General - This supporting service category includes the functions necessary to 
support the proper administrative functioning of the Organization such as human resources, 
management information systems, accounting and finance, legal, executive offices and facilities. 

Advertising 

Advertising expenditures are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $1,409,787 and 
$1,264,285 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

Income taxes 

WETA is recognized as exempt from federal income taxes, except on unrelated activities, under 
Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 501(c)(3). The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has also 
determined that WETA is not a private foundation under IRC Section 509(a)(1). NHP LLC is a single 
member LLC and is a disregarded entity for federal income tax purposes. Therefore, the 
Organization is generally not subject to tax under present income tax laws; however, any unrelated 
business income may be subject to federal and state income taxes. The Organization has processes 
presently in place to ensure the maintenance of its tax-exempt status; to identify and report 
unrelated income; to determine its filing and tax obligations in jurisdictions for which it has nexus; 
and to identify and evaluate other matters that may be considered tax positions. 
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The Organization believes it has appropriate support for any tax position taken and, as such, does 
not have any uncertain tax positions that are material to the consolidated financial statements. No 
interest expense and penalties related to income taxes on uncertain tax positions were recognized 
for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. The Organization is generally no longer subject to 
income tax examinations by the U.S. federal, state or local tax authorities for the years ended June 
30, 2022 and prior. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 

In March 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject 
to Contractual Sale Restrictions (Topic 820). The amendments clarify that a contractual restriction 
on the sale of an equity security is not considered part of the unit of account of the equity security 
and, therefore, is not considered in measuring fair value. Early adoption is permitted, and the 
updates should be applied prospectively with any adjustments from the adoption of the amendments 
recognized in the change in net asset and disclosed on the date of adoption. For all non-public 
entities, this ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2025. The Organization 
is evaluating the effect that adoption of this new standard will have on the Organization’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

In July 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-05, Financial Instruments—Credit losses (Topic 326): 
Measurement of Credit Losses for Accounts Receivable and Contract Assets for Private Companies 
and Certain Not-for-Profit Entities (PCC). The ASU amends ASC 326, Financial Instruments—Credit 
Losses, and allows all entities to elect a practical expedient that all entities can use when estimating 
expected credit losses for current accounts receivable and current contract assets arising from 
transactions accounted for under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The guidance 
also allows entities other than public business entities (PBEs) that apply the practical expedient to 
make an accounting policy election to consider collection activity after the balance sheet date when 
estimating expected credit losses. This update is effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2025. The Organization continues to evaluate the potential impact of this ASU. 

The Organization has assessed other accounting pronouncements issued or effective during the year 
ended June 30, 2025 and deemed they were not applicable to the Organization or are not 
anticipated to have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
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2. Liquidity and Availability of Resources

The Organization regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its annual operating needs and other 
contractual commitments while also striving to maximize the return on investment of its funds not 
required for annual operations. Financial assets available to meet general expenditures over the 
next 12 months consist of the following: 

June 30, 2025 2024 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,952,407 $ 16,049,597 
Accounts receivable, net 6,819,786 11,205,060 
Pledges receivable, net 7,143,318 9,580,621 
Investments 60,863,762 55,482,813 

Total financial assets, at year-end 102,779,273 92,318,091 

Less amounts not available to be used within one year: 
Receivables due after one year (1,880,854) (2,666,945) 
Board-designated funds (31,056,923) (35,977,375) 
Donor-restricted funds, net of film assets (56,812,809) (46,311,674) 

Financial assets not available to be used for general 
expenditures (89,750,586) (84,955,994) 

Financial assets available to meet general expenditures 
over the next 12 months $ 13,028,687 $ 7,362,097 

Donor-restricted funds $ (117,066,460) $ (101,116,984) 
Film assets 60,253,651 54,805,310 

Donor-restricted funds, net of film assets $ (56,812,809) $ (46,311,674) 

The Organization also has a line-of-credit with $4,000,000 in unused funds available as of 
June 30, 2025, that will expire on March 27, 2026, and a line-of-credit with $5,000,000 in unused 
funds available as of June 30, 2025, that expired on August 1, 2025 and was not renewed by the 
Organization subsequently. 
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3. Pledges Receivable

Contributions receivable, net, as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 were valued at $7,143,318 and 
$9,580,621, respectively. Unconditional contributions that are expected to be received more than 
one year into the future are discounted using weighted-average risk-free rate of 3.76% and 2.42% 
for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. Amortization of the discount is recorded as additional 
contribution revenue, typically ratably, and is used in accordance with donor-imposed restrictions, 
if any, on the contributions. When necessary, an allowance is made for uncollectible contributions, 
based upon management’s judgment, past collection experience, and other relevant factors. For 
the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization wrote off $20,000 and $33,852 of 
receivables, respectively. 

Pledges receivables are expected to be collected over the following periods: 

Years ended June 30, 2025 2024 

Due in less than one year $ 5,457,777 $ 7,084,883 
Due after one year and before five years 1,880,854 2,666,945 
Discount of long-term receivables (195,313) (155,781) 
Allowance for doubtful pledges - (15,426)

$ 7,143,318 $ 9,580,621 

Long-term receivables arise primarily from grants and contributions restricted to fund television 
projects, which often have multi-year production schedules. 

Conditional grants are recognized as revenue when the specific barriers detailed in the grant, such 
as incurring allowable expenses, are substantially met. At June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization 
had approximately $6,150,000 and $9,760,000, respectively, of outstanding conditional 
contributions not reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Refundable 
advances are recorded when a grantor makes a cash advance payment on a conditional grant and 
the Organization has not yet met the stipulated barriers and are presented on the accompanying 
consolidated statements of financial position. 

The Organization receives support in the form of contributions from its Board members in the 
ordinary course of business. 

4. Investments and Fair Value Measurement

The Organization follows the Codification topic, Fair Value Measurement. The topic applies to all 
assets and liabilities that are being measured and reported on a fair value basis. The topic 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with GAAP and expands disclosure 
about fair value measurements. The topic enables the reader of the consolidated financial 
statements to assess the inputs used to develop those measurements by establishing a hierarchy for 
ranking the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. The topic 
requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the 
following three categories: 
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Level 1 – This level consists of quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. 
 
Level 2 – This level consists of observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs corroborated 
by market data. 
 
Level 3 – This level consists of unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data. 
 
In determining the appropriate levels, the Organization performs a detailed analysis of the assets 
and liabilities that are subject to the topic. At each reporting period, all assets and liabilities for 
which the fair value measurement is based on significant unobservable inputs are classified as 
Level 1. The Organization had no Level 2 or Level 3 investments at June 30, 2025 and 2024. 
 
The tables below present the balances of assets and liabilities, measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis by level within the hierarchy: 
 
June 30, 2025     

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Asset category:     
 Money market fund $ 933,806 $ - $ - $ 933,806 

 Equity mutual and exchange traded 
funds:     
  Large blend       17,942,118  - -       17,942,118  
  International growth and value       15,628,673  - -       15,628,673  
  Small cap blend         3,183,465  - -         3,183,465  
  Mid cap blend         1,318,092  - -         1,318,092  
  Emerging markets         1,187,227  - -         1,187,227  
  High yield             47,904  - -             47,904  

 39,307,479 - - 39,307,479 

 Fixed income mutual funds:  - -  
  Intermediate term       12,564,335  - -       12,564,335  
  Short-term         9,247,841  - -         9,247,841  
  High yield         1,322,625  - -         1,322,625  
  Emerging markets           230,986  - -           230,986  

 23,365,787  -  - 23,365,787 

Total assets at fair value $ 63,607,072 $ - $ - $ 63,607,072 

Total investments at fair value    $ 60,863,762 

Total deferred compensation investments 
at  fair value    2,743,310 

    $ 63,607,072 

Liabilities:     
 Deferred compensation plan liabilities $ - $ 2,743,310 $ - $ 2,743,310 

Total liabilities at fair value $ - $ 2,743,310 $ - $ 2,743,310 
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June 30, 2024 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Asset category: 
Money market fund $ 300,816 $ - $ - $ 300,816 

Equity mutual and exchange traded funds: 
Large blend 21,004,284 - - 21,004,284 
International growth and value 12,992,578 - - 12,992,578 
Small cap blend 49,232 - - 49,232 
Mid cap blend 902,433 - - 902,433 
Emerging markets 70,693 - - 70,693 

35,019,220 - - 35,019,220 

Fixed income mutual funds: 
Intermediate term 18,792,212 - - 18,792,212 
Short-term 3,871,945 - - 3,871,945 
High yield 95,821 - - 95,821 
Emerging markets 70,693 - - 70,693 

22,830,671 - - 22,830,671 

Total assets at fair value $ 58,150,707 $ - $ - $ 58,150,707

Total investments at fair value $ 55,482,813 

Total deferred compensation investments at 
fair value        2,667,894 

$ 58,150,707 

Liabilities: 
Deferred compensation plan liabilities $ - $ 2,667,894 $ - $ 2,667,894

Total liabilities at fair value $ - $ 2,667,894 $ - $ 2,667,894

The money market, mutual and exchange traded funds are considered Level 1 assets as they are 
actively traded on public exchanges. The deferred compensation plan liabilities are based on the 
fair value of the deferred compensation plan assets, which are observable inputs; however, the 
liabilities are not publicly traded and are, therefore, considered Level 2 items. 

Investment return, net of management fees consists of the following: 

Years ended June 30, 2025 2024 

Unrealized and realized gains $ 4,356,207 $ 3,170,923 
Interest and dividends 1,970,015 2,079,356 
Investment management fees (164,990) (100,521) 

$ 6,161,232 $ 5,149,758 

Net investment return $ 3,125,800 $ 1,887,002 
Endowment investment return 3,035,432 3,262,756 

$ 6,161,232 $ 5,149,758 
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5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following: 

June 30, 2025 2024 

Production and other equipment $ 44,903,103 $ 45,434,129 
Building and improvements 53,431,230 53,147,861 
Land 1,773,006 1,773,006 
Fixed assets purchased, but not yet placed in service 425,491 10,678 

100,532,830 100,365,674 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (41,853,801) (36,736,202) 

Property and equipment, net $ 58,679,029 $ 63,629,472 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $6,812,164 and $3,575,164 for the years ended June 30, 
2025 and 2024, respectively. 

In January 2021, the Organization sold its Production Center building to Arlington County, Virginia 
for $8,000,000 and entered into a five-year leaseback agreement at a rate below fair market value. 
The resulting gain on sale of $6,634,621 was deferred and amortized over the life of the leaseback 
agreement. During the years ended June 30, 2021 through June 30, 2024, the Organization 
recognized deferred gain amortization totaling $4,588,947, leaving a remaining balance of 
$2,045,675 as of June 30, 2024. In December 2024, the Organization’s leaseback period concluded, 
and the Production Center building was formally returned to Arlington County, Virginia. As the 
Organization no longer occupied or maintained any rights or obligations related to the property, the 
remaining deferred gain of $1,492,790 was recognized in full as income during the year ended 
June 30, 2025.  

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the balance of deferred gain on the sale of assets was $0 and 
$2,045,675, respectively. Amortization of the deferred gain amounted to $552,885 and $1,326,924, 
respectively for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. 

6. Loan Payable

On November 14, 2023, the Organization received an artwork valued at $200,000. The artwork is 
considered on loan to the Organization through November 13, 2026, unless otherwise directed by 
the lender. There is no interest or other financial obligations attached to the loan, and the artwork 
is expected to be returned at the end of the loan period. 

7. Lines-of-Credit

The Organization has a revolving line of credit in the amount of $4,000,000 that expires on 
March 27, 2026. The Organization also had a revolving line of credit in the amount of $5,000,000 
that expired on August 1, 2025 and was not renewed subsequently. The Organization had no 
outstanding amounts due under the lines of credit at June 30, 2025 and 2024. 
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8. Retirement Plan

The Organization provides retirement benefits for substantially all of its employees through a 403(b) 
defined contribution savings plan (the 403(b) Plan). The Organization’s financial liability under this 
plan is limited to current contributions. Total employer contributions to the 403(b) Plan were 
$3,590,118 and $3,577,387 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

9. Deferred Compensation Plan

The Organization has a 457(b) deferred compensation plan (the 457(b) Plan). The Plan is intended 
to be a deferred compensation plan for corporate officers of the Organization in accordance with 
Section 457(b) of the IRC. The recorded asset and liability for the deferred compensation plan was 
$2,743,310 and $2,667,894 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

10. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes: 

June 30, 2025 2024 

Programmatic and time restrictions: 
National television production $ 73,730,206 $ 65,199,448 
Local broadcasting     2,354,485 2,326,111 
Learning media projects     6,142,232 2,313,677 

Total programmatic and time restrictions 82,226,923 69,839,236 

Donor-restricted endowment funds: 
The Leonore Annenberg Endowment  6,261,133 5,737,763 
Capital Campaign Fund—Program Trust    12,855,902 12,279,588 
Eugene B. Casey Endowment 1,783,240 1,909,102 
Eugene B. Casey Journalism Endowment 4,276,926 2,017,690 
Fisher Endowment 1,534,697 1,473,553 
Arts Program Fund  3,141,716 3,313,854 
Arts Endowment Fund  4,274,454 3,917,151 
John and Martha Giovanelli Endowed Fund of Science and 
 Education 113,897 104,376 
Other named endowments 597,572 524,671 

Total donor-restricted endowment funds 34,839,537 31,277,748 

Net assets with donor restrictions $ 117,066,460 $ 101,116,984 

During the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization released $56,014,779 and 
$92,966,737, respectively, from donor-restricted net assets. 

The donor-restricted endowment funds are comprised of the following: 

The Leonore Annenberg Endowment - The Annenberg Foundation established The Leonore 
Annenberg Endowment to support projects that are important, national in scope and consistent with 
the values and integrity of its namesake. As of September 30, each year, the Organization will 
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determine the fund’s fair value, including income and both realized and unrealized gains and losses 
net of fees, and calculate the amount that may be withdrawn. 

Capital Campaign Fund—Program Trust - The Capital Campaign Fund was established to help fund 
the development of new facilities and to create an endowment to support the development of radio 
and television programming for public broadcasting. The National Endowment for the Humanities 
awarded the Organization a $562,000 endowment challenge grant, which was matched by 
$2,443,421 from private sources. Net assets associated with these grants are recorded as net assets 
with donor restrictions, except for $500,000 that is recorded in net assets without donor restrictions 
having been applied toward the purchase of equipment pursuant to donor restrictions. Income 
generated by this fund is applied to the development of radio and television programming for public 
broadcasting. 

Eugene B. Casey Endowments - The Eugene B. Casey Foundation made a $1,000,000 donor-restricted 
contribution to establish the Eugene B. Casey Endowment Fund. The income from this endowment 
is used to provide programming for children and young people that enriches them through knowledge 
of their bodies, minds and spirits. During the year ended June 30, 2024, the Foundation made an 
additional $2,000,000 donor-restricted contribution to establish a separate endowment fund. This 
new endowment supports excellence in journalism through the SPR Excellence in Journalism Award 
and the PBS NewsHour News Assistants program, fostering the next generation of journalists. 

Fisher Endowment - The Robert M. Fisher Memorial Foundation, Inc. established a $1,000,000 
program Endowment Fund at the Organization. The Fisher Endowment Fund will be used to acquire, 
produce and broadcast television and radio programs in the fulfillment of the mission of the 
Organization. The Organization will use 5% of the value of the fund as of December 31 the year 
prior, or $50,000, whichever is greater, each year. If the earnings are less than $50,000 in any one 
year, the $50,000 shall be funded by the earnings and an amount from principal to bring the annual 
total to $50,000. The Organization only used principal amount in the first year of this fund. 

Arts Endowment and Arts Program - The Organization previously received a $600,000 challenge 
grant from the National Endowment for the Arts (NEA). The Organization was required by the terms 
of the grant to provide matching contributions totaling $1,800,000. Together, the grant and 
matching funds were used to establish an Arts Endowment Fund of $1,000,000 and an Arts Program 
Fund of $1,400,000 (together, the Funds). The original principal of the Funds was restricted to be 
held in perpetuity under the terms of the original grants, though internal borrowing from the Arts 
Program Fund principal is permitted. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization had not 
borrowed from the Funds. NEA subsequently informed the Organization that the restriction on the 
Funds had been removed. The Organization then reclassified $2,200,000 of those funds into net 
assets without donor restrictions. The Arts Program Fund of $200,000 remains in net assets with 
donor restrictions since the funds were matching funds and have not been released from restriction 
by the donors. 

John and Martha Giovanelli Endowed Fund for Science and Education - The Organization received 
$100,000 in endowment contributions from a donor. The purpose of this fund is to provide general 
operating support for WETA Television in support of science and education programming. The 
income earned from the fund will be made available annually to the Organization to support general 
operations. 

Other named endowments - During fiscal years 2025 and 2024, the Organization received no other 
named endowment contributions. 
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11. Endowment

The Organization’s endowment consists of individual funds established for a variety of purposes. As 
required by GAAP, net assets associated with endowment funds are classified and reported based 
on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions and designations by the Board of Trustees. 
The Organization follows the Codification subtopic, Reporting Endowment Funds. 

Interpretation of the relevant law 

The Board of Trustees has interpreted the Virginia enacted version of the Uniform Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of 
the original gifts as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit donor 
stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the Organization classifies as 
donor-restricted permanent endowment net assets: (a) the original value of gifts donated to the 
donor-restricted permanent endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the 
donor-restricted permanent endowment, and (c) the accumulations to the donor-restricted 
permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift 
instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the 
donor-restricted endowment fund that is classified as donor-restricted net assets, until those 
amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Organization in a manner consistent with the 
standard of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA. In accordance with UPMIFA, the Organization considers 
the following factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted 
endowment funds: 

• The purposes of the Organization’s endowment fund

• The duration and preservation of the funds

• General economic conditions

• The possible effect of inflation and deflation

• The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments

• Other available financial resources

• Investment policies

At June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization had endowment funds totaling $65,896,460 and 
$67,255,123, respectively. 

Donor-restricted endowment funds are described in Note 10. 

Board-designated funds are described below: 

WETA Endowment Fund - To provide a continued source of income for operations or to fund special 
projects, capital improvements or emergency needs. 

Capital Building Fund - To be used for the purchase of capital assets without obligation (or donor 
expectation) to preserve any amount of capital. 
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Program Investment Fund - To provide a continuing source of investment capital for expenditure in 
the development of and participation in projects of interest to the Organization. 

Strategic Initiatives Funds - To fund new initiatives that are strategically important to the future of 
the Organization. 

Program Fund for Excellence - To be used to develop programming of intellectual integrity and 
cultural merit and to support other projects related to the mission of the Organization. 

The distribution of endowment net assets between donor-restricted and board-designated are as 
follows: 

Year ended June 30, 2025 

Without Donor 
Restrictions 

With Donor 
Restrictions Total 

Program Trust Fund $ - $ 12,855,902 $ 12,855,902
Leonore Annenberg Endowment - 6,261,133 6,261,133 
Arts Program Fund - 3,141,716 3,141,716 
Arts Endowment Fund - 4,276,926 4,276,926 
Eugene B. Casey Endowment - 1,783,240 1,783,240 
Eugene B. Casey Journalism Endowment - 4,274,454 4,274,454 
Fisher Endowment - 1,534,697 1,534,697 
John and Martha Giovanelli Endowed 
 Fund of Science and Education - 113,897 113,897 
Other named endowments - 597,572 597,572 

Donor-restricted endowment funds - 34,839,537 34,839,537 

WETA Endowment Fund 8,819,772 - 8,819,772
Capital Building Fund 5,353,138 - 5,353,138
Program Investment Fund 6,437,561 - 6,437,561
WETA Strategic Initiative Fund 8,042,138 - 8,042,138
Program Fund for Excellence 2,404,314 - 2,404,314

Board-designated funds 31,056,923 - 31,056,923

Total endowment net assets $ 31,056,923 $ 34,839,537 $ 65,896,460 
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Year ended June 30, 2024 

Without Donor 
Restrictions 

With Donor 
Restrictions Total 

Program Trust Fund $ - $ 12,279,588 $ 12,279,588
Leonore Annenberg Endowment - 5,737,763 5,737,763 
Arts Program Fund - 3,313,854 3,313,854 
Arts Endowment Fund - 3,917,151 3,917,151 
Eugene B. Casey Endowment - 1,909,102 1,909,102 
Eugene B. Casey Journalism Endowment - 2,017,690 2,017,690 
Fisher Endowment - 1,473,553 1,473,553 
John and Martha Giovanelli Endowed 
 Fund of Science and Education - 104,376 104,376 
Other named endowments - 524,671 524,671 

Donor-restricted endowment funds - 31,277,748 31,277,748 

WETA Endowment Fund 8,082,524 - 8,082,524
Capital Building Fund 4,905,331 - 4,905,331
Program Investment Fund 5,899,443 - 5,899,443
WETA Strategic Initiative Fund 6,107,222 - 6,107,222
Program Fund for Excellence 2,203,335 - 2,203,335
WETA Capital Campaign: Building the 

Future Fund 8,779,520 - 8,779,520

Board-designated funds 35,977,375 - 35,977,375

Total endowment net assets $ 35,977,375 $ 31,277,748 $ 67,255,123 

Funds with deficiencies 

The fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds may fall below 
the level that the donor requires the Organization to retain as a fund of perpetual duration. As of 
June 30, 2025 and 2024, no funds had a deficiency.  

Changes in endowment net assets were as follows: 

Year ended June 30, 2025 

Without Donor 
Restrictions 

With Donor 
Restrictions Total 

Endowment net assets, beginning of year $ 35,977,375 $ 31,277,748 $ 67,255,123 
Investment income     556,478     535,091  1,091,569 
Investment gains, net  1,567,545  2,500,341  4,067,886 
Contributions and additions  1,735,045  2,025,043  3,760,088 
Distributions        (8,779,520)        (1,498,686)      (10,278,206) 

Endowment net assets, end of year $ 31,056,923 $ 34,839,537 $ 65,896,460 
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Year ended June 30, 2024    

 
Without Donor 

Restrictions 
With Donor 
Restrictions Total 

Endowment net assets, beginning of year $ 37,227,735 $ 27,976,184 $ 65,203,919 
Investment income 923,214 743,474 1,666,688 
Investment gains, net 1,799,733 2,519,282 4,319,015 
Contributions and additions 2,734,715 2,059,790 4,794,505 
Distributions (6,708,022) (2,020,982) (8,729,004) 

Endowment net assets, end of year $ 35,977,375 $ 31,277,748 $ 67,255,123 
 
Endowment investing policies 
 
Endowments are aggregated into a single pool along with other investment funds to permit optimal 
asset allocation. The Organization’s primary investment objective is long-term growth to preserve 
and enhance the inflation-adjusted purchasing power of the total endowment. 
 
The Organization has a well-diversified investment portfolio. The Organization’s Investment 
Subcommittee monitors the portfolio and investment manager, and advises the Finance and Budget 
Committee of the Board of Trustees on investment matters in accordance with a written committee 
charter. 
 
Endowment spending policies 
 
Endowment gifts are spent in accordance with the wishes of the donor and guidance from the Board 
of Trustees. The Organization may not spend certain endowment earnings every year if projects 
that meet donor restrictions are not undertaken. If earnings are not used in a particular year, the 
Organization reinvests them for appropriate use in a future year. Allowable withdrawals that are 
not taken within a particular year may be withdrawn in subsequent years with the approval of the 
Organization’s Finance and Budget Committee. 
 
Donor-restricted endowment funds 
 
Donor-restricted endowment funds consist of balances to be held in perpetuity and balances 
available for distribution. Donor-restricted funds are available for annual use per the stated criteria 
in the donor agreement. Most of the agreements allow for annual distributions in the amount of 4% 
to 5% of the prior year’s ending balance or of the prior three-year average balance. For any 
restricted endowments without stated terms, the Organization may annually withdraw up to 5% of 
the prior year’s ending balance. This rate is reviewed periodically by the Organization’s Finance and 
Budget Committee to ensure that it continues to be an appropriate rate to preserve the principal 
value in perpetuity. The remaining donor-restricted endowment funds followed the general 
guidelines outlined above. 
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Board-designated funds 

The entire balance of each board-designated fund is available for distribution with proper approval, 
either from the Board of Trustees or Organization Management, depending on the fund. 

The decision whether to include withdrawal of money for a particular year’s annual budget is made 
by the Finance and Budget Committee and approved by the Board of Trustees. The Organization’s 
Finance and Budget Committee may approve an extraordinary withdrawal to support essential 
operations in a significant or protracted economic downturn; cover critical capital expenditures 
lacking other sources of funding; provide cash flow for a strategic business initiative; or meet other 
organizational needs. 

12. Leases

The Organization uses warehouse space, television towers, and related technical facilities under 
noncancelable operating leases that expire at various dates through 2035. Selected leases contain 
escalation clauses to cover increased operating expenses borne by the lessor. 

Operating lease cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The components of 
lease expense are as follows: 

Years ended June 30, 2025 2024 

Operating lease cost $ 297,447 $ 297,447 

Supplemental cash flow and balance sheet information related to leases is as follows: 

Years ended June 30, 2025 2024 

Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease 
liabilities: 

Operating cash outflows—payments on operating leases $ 280,664 $ 275,161 

Operating leases: 
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 2,489,401 $ 2,704,282 

Operating lease liabilities, current $ 286,277 $ 280,664 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 2,338,936 2,542,181 

Total operating lease liabilities $ 2,625,213 $ 2,822,845 

Weighted-average remaining lease term: 
 Operating leases 9.8 years 10.8 years 
Weighted-average discount rate 3.02% 3.02% 
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Future undiscounted cash flows for each of the next five years and thereafter, and a reconciliation 
to the operating lease liabilities recognized on the consolidated statements of financial position are 
as follows as of June 30, 2025: 

Years ending June 30, 

2026 $ 286,277 
2027 292,003 
2028 297,843 
2029 303,800 
2030 309,876 
Thereafter 1,557,998 

Total lease payments 3,047,797 

Less: imputed interest (422,584) 

Total present value of lease liabilities $ 2,625,213 

13. Contingencies

From time to time, the Organization may be subject to various legal proceedings, which are 
incidental to the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of the management of the Organization, 
there are no material pending legal proceedings against the Organization. 

All direct expenses and indirect rates charged under the Organization’s government grants are 
subject to audit by a government agency. Such audits could result in claims against the Organization 
for disallowed costs or noncompliance with grantor restrictions. No provision has been made for any 
liabilities that may arise from such audits, since management believes that the Organization is in 
compliance with all grant restrictions, and the amount of such liabilities, if any, cannot be 
determined. 

14. Gift Annuity Program

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Organization’s obligation for annuity payments totaled $254,205 
and $211,145, respectively. This obligation is funded by a gift annuity reserve fund managed by 
Wells Fargo. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the fair value of assets held within the reserve fund 
totaled $1,037,620 and $880,056, respectively. The fair value of such assets exceeds the obligation 
for annuity payments by $783,415 and $668,911, respectively. 

15. Subsequent Events

The Organization relies on significant annual funding from the Corporation for Public Broadcasting 
(CPB), primarily through the Community Service Grant (CSG) program and other CPB-supported 
initiatives. These funds are essential to advancing the Organization’s mission of delivering high-
quality public broadcasting services to the community. For the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
the Organization received approximately $25.6 million (representing 21% of total support) and $24.0 
million (17% of total support), respectively, from CPB. 
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Subsequent to June 30, 2025, on July 24, 2025, the Rescissions Act of 2025 was signed into law by 
the United States Congress rescinding $1.1 billion in funding that had been appropriated for CPB for 
fiscal years 2026 and 2027. Further, on July 31, 2025, the U.S. Senate Appropriations Committee 
released the Labor, Health and Human Services, Education, and Related Agencies Appropriations 
Act, 2026 which excluded funding for CPB for the first time in five decades from the United States 
Budget.  

As a result, CPB ceased operations due to the elimination of its federal funding. This development 
marks a significant shift in the public broadcasting environment and may impact the availability of 
federal support for public media organizations, including the Organization, in future periods. 
Management is actively evaluating the potential financial and operational implications of the loss 
of CPB funding and is considering strategies to mitigate its impact on future operations. As a result, 
management has introduced cost-reduction measures and the elimination of programs to address 
the loss of federal funding. The Organization continues to monitor and evaluate the financial and 
operational implications of these developments and will take further action, as necessary, to 
mitigate any potential risks. 

The Organization has evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure 
through December 1, 2025, the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be 
issued. The Organization is not aware of any subsequent events, other than the matter described 
above, which would require recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Association, Inc. and Subsidiary

Year ended June 30, 2025

Federal Assistance Pass-Through Total
Listing Number Entity Identifying Provided to Federal

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title (ALN) Number Subrecipients Expenditures

Research and Development — Cluster

National Science Foundation
STEM Education:

NSF Indigenous Climate Journalism (#42-10059-24006) 47.076 172,191               481,208               

Total National Science Foundation 172,191               481,208               

Department of Health and Human Services
National Institutes of Health:

Biomedical Research and Research Training:
NIH SEPA SRL (#45-14000-24002) 93.859 33,750                 254,145               

Total Department of Health and Human Services 33,750                 254,145               

Total Research and Development Cluster 205,941               735,353               

Library of Congress
Teaching with Primary Sources (#45-14000-22027) 42.010 -                          23,159                 

Total Library of Congress -                          23,159                 

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 205,941$             758,512$             

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards.

The Greater Washington Educational Telecommunications

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
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1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) includes the federal 
award activity of the Greater Washington Educational Telecommunications Association, Inc. and 
Subsidiary (the Organization) under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 
30, 2025. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 
2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents 
only a selected portion of the operations of the Organization, it is not intended to and does not 
present the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of the Organization. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such 
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, 
wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Pass-
through entity identifying numbers are presented where available. 

3. Indirect Cost Rate

The Organization has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the 
Uniform Guidance. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

The Board of Directors 
The Greater Washington Educational 
 Telecommunications Association, Inc. 
Arlington, Virginia 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated 
financial statements of the Greater Washington Educational   Telecommunications Association, 
Inc. and Subsidiary’s (the Organization), which comprise the Organization’s consolidated 
statement of financial position as of June 30, 2025, and the related consolidated statements of 
activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 1, 
2025. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the 
Organization's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s consolidated financial statements will not 
be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, 
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Organization's consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with 
which could have a direct and material effect on the consolidated financial statements. However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Organization’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Organization’s 
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

December 1, 2025 
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BDO USA P.C., a Virginia professional corporation, is the U.S. member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the 
international BDO network of independent member firms. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program; 
 Report on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 

The Board of Directors 
The Greater Washington Educational 
 Telecommunications Association, Inc. 
Arlington, Virginia 

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program 

Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We have audited the Greater Washington Educational  Telecommunications Association, Inc. and 
Subsidiary’s (the Organization) compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified 
as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material 
effect on the Organization’s major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2025. The 
Organization’s major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of 
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, the Organization complied, in all material respects, with the compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal 
program for the year ended June 30, 2025. 

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the 
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 
Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion on compliance for the major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal 
determination of the Organization’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to 
above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to the Organization’s federal programs. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with 
the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and 
express an opinion on the Organization’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting 
material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is 
considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it 
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the 
Organization’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the 
Uniform Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the Organization’s compliance with
the compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances.

• Obtain an understanding of the Organization’s internal control over compliance relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances
and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Organization’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Other Matters 

The results of our auditing procedures disclosed an instance of noncompliance which are required 
to be reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and which are described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2025-001. Our opinion on the 
major federal program is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the 
Organization’s response to the noncompliance findings identified in our compliance audit 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The Organization’s 
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response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance 
and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

The Organization is responsible for preparing a corrective action plan to address each audit finding 
included in our auditor’s report. The Organization’s corrective action plan was not subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no 
opinion on it. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to 
identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance and, therefore, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We did not identify any deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, as 
discussed below, we did identify a deficiency in internal control over compliance that we consider 
to be a significant deficiency. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in 
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. We consider the deficiency in internal control over compliance described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2025-001 to be a significant 
deficiency. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the 
Organization’s response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our audit 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The Organization’s 
response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance 
and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

The Organization is responsible for preparing a corrective action plan to address each audit finding 
included in our auditor’s report. The Organization’s corrective action plan was not subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no 
opinion on it. 
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The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

February 11, 2026 
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Section I – Summary of Independent Auditor’s Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of report the auditor issued on whether the 
financial statements audited were prepared in 
accordance with GAAP. Unmodified 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

• Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes X none reported 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?  yes X no 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over the major federal program: 

• Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified? X yes none reported 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for 
    the major federal program: Unmodified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be 
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? X yes no 

Identification of the major federal program: 

Assistance Listing Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

Various  Research and Development Cluster 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A 
and type B programs: $750,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? yes X no 
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Section II - Financial Statement Findings 

There were no findings related to the consolidated financial statements which are required to be 
reported in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards (GAGAS). 

Section III - Federal Program Findings and Questioned Costs 

Finding Number: 2025-001 

Compliance Requirement: Activities Allowed or Unallowed and Allowable Costs/Cost Principles 

Information on the Major Federal Program: 

Federal agency: National Science Foundation (NSF) and Department of Health and Human 
Services – National Institute of Health (HHS-NIH) 

Assistance listing number:  47.076 and 93.859 
Assistance listing name and 
award number:  

NSF Indigenous Climate Journalism - #42-10059-24006 and Biomedical 
Research and Research Training - #45-14000-24002 

Award year:  NSF: 09/01/2023 - 04/25/2025 
HHS-NIH: 07/20/2023 - 06/30/2028 

Criteria – The Uniform Guidance in 2 CFR Section 200.303, Internal Control requires that non-
Federal entities receiving Federal awards (i.e., auditee management) establish and maintain 
internal control designed to reasonably ensure compliance with Federal statues, regulations, and 
the terms and conditions of the Federal award.  

Per 2 CFR Section 200.430 Compensation – Personal Services: 

“Costs of compensation are allowable to the extent that they satisfy the specific requirements of this 
part, and that the total compensation for individual employees: 

(1) Is reasonable for the services rendered and conforms to the establish written policy of the
non-Federal entity consistently applied to both Federal and non-Federal activities;

(2) Follows an appointment made in accordance with a non-Federal entity’s laws and/or rules or
written policies and meets the requirements of Federal statute, where applicable; and

(3) Is determined and supported as provided in paragraph (i) of this section, Standards for
Documentation of Personnel Expenses, when applicable.”

2 CFR Section 200.430 (g): 

“Standards for Documentation of Personnel Expenses (1) Charges to Federal awards for salaries and 
wages must be based on records that accurately reflect the work performed. These records must: 

(i) Be supported by a system of internal control that provides reasonable assurance that the
charges are accurate, allowable, and properly allocated;

(ii) Be incorporated into the official records of the recipient or subrecipient;
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(iii) Reasonably reflect the total activity for which the employee is compensated by the recipient
or subrecipient, not exceeding 100 percent of compensated activities;

(iv) Encompass federally-assisted and all other activities compensated by the recipient or
subrecipient on an integrated basis but may include the use of subsidiary records as defined
in the recipient's or subrecipient's written policy;

(v) Comply with the established accounting policies and procedures of the recipient or
subrecipient;

(vi) Support the distribution of the employee's salary or wages among specific activities or cost
objectives if the employee works on more than one Federal award; a Federal award and non-
Federal award; an indirect cost activity and a direct cost activity; two or more indirect
activities allocated using different allocation bases; or an unallowable activity and a direct or
indirect cost activity.

(vii) Budget estimates (i.e., estimates determined before the services are performed) alone do
not qualify as support for charges to Federal awards.”

Condition – During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, the Organization allocated payroll expenditures 
charged to the Research and Development Program (major program) based on estimated percentages 
of personnel time dedicated to the grant. Management did not maintain documentation evidencing 
that the allocation methodology and resulting payroll distributions were reviewed and approved on a 
timely basis during the fiscal year. 

Compensating controls and audit results noted include: (i) payroll costs were budgeted by program and 
program budgets were approved, (ii) payroll charges were reconciled to the general ledger and 
reviewed, and (iii) substantive testing of payroll costs charged to the major program identified no 
exceptions in a sample of 10 payroll transactions tested. 

Cause – Although the Organization has established policies and procedures intended to support and 
evidence review and approval of payroll allocations charged to the major program, these procedures 
were not performed and/or retained in a timely manner during the fiscal year. As a result, management 
did not maintain contemporaneous documentation supporting that payroll allocation percentages and 
resulting payroll distributions were reviewed and approved in accordance with the Organization’s 
established guidelines and applicable regulations.  

Effect – The lack of timely documented review and approval of payroll allocation support increases the 
risk that payroll costs could be inaccurately allocated to the federal award and therefore not comply 
with 2 CFR 200.430 requirements for documentation of personnel expenses. However, based on 
compensating controls and our substantive testing (no exceptions noted in a sample of 10 transactions), 
there are no known or likely questioned costs and no misallocations were identified in the items tested. 

Questioned Costs – There are no known or likely questioned costs. 

Context – This is a condition identified per review of the Organization’s compliance with specified 
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. The prevalence of this finding is detailed in the condition 
section above.  

Repeat Finding – This is not a repeat finding. 
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Recommendation – We recommend that management ensure established policies and procedures for 
the timely review and approval of payroll allocation methodologies and payroll expenditures charged 
to the major program are consistently performed. Management should also retain documentation 
evidencing the review and approval (including reviewer, date, and scope of review) to demonstrate 
compliance with 2 CFR 200.430.  

Views of Responsible Officials – Management agrees with the finding. Please see appendix A for 
Management’s Corrective Action Plan.  
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Identifying Number: Finding No. 2025-001 - Contributions of Nonfinancial Assets 

Compliance Requirement: Activities Allowed or Unallowed and Allowable Costs/Cost 
Principles 

Corrective Actions Taken or Planned: 

Management concurs with the auditor’s assessment that this was a control oversight and a breakdown 
in the internal control system for payroll documentation, rather than intentional noncompliance. As 
part of our federal grant closeout efforts, we have taken the following steps to address the deficiency: 

• After-the-Fact Certifications: As of this response, WETA has obtained ten after-the-fact
employee certifications confirming that the payroll allocations for FY 2025 accurately reflect
the effort performed. These certifications are on file and available for review.

• Managerial Oversight Confirmation: The Director of Production Operations has provided written
confirmation that monthly allocation decisions were discussed with project managers and
reflected in payroll actions, though these reviews were not formally documented at the time.

• Policy Review and Update: Management is currently reviewing and updating internal policies
to ensure that documentation procedures align with operational practices. These updates will
require contemporaneous certification and documentation of payroll allocations for any future
federal or restricted awards.

• Training and Controls: We are developing additional training to reinforce documentation
expectations and strengthen internal controls among finance and operational staff.

Completion Date: January 31, 2026 
Contact Person: Dorian Davis 
Title: Corporate Controller 
Phone Number: (703) 998-2216 
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Contact Person: Dorian Davis 
Title: Corporate Controller 
Phone Number: (703) 998-2216 

Prior Audit Finding 2024-001: Contributions of Nonfinancial Assets 

This finding related to the Contributions of Nonfinancial Assets. The auditors noted that the 
Organization did not record revenue or expenses for a material contribution of nonfinancial assets 
received during the fiscal year. Management implemented a corrective action plan that included 
establishing a policy and a standardized workflow and checklist for identifying, valuing, and 
recording all in-kind contributions in accordance with GAAP. The Finance Department was trained 
on the proper treatment of such contributions, and quarterly reconciliations were instituted. This 
matter has been fully resolved. Completed March 31, 2025. 

Prior Audit Finding 2024-002: Recording of Endowment Revenue 

This significant deficiency pertained to the incorrect recording of endowment revenue. Specifically, 
an endowment gift was recorded directly to net assets without recognizing the associated revenue. 
Management addressed the issue by revising internal accounting procedures, requiring that all 
endowment contributions be recognized as revenue prior to net asset classification. A dual review 
process was implemented, and staff received training on endowment fund accounting. This finding 
has been fully resolved. Completed February 28, 2025  

Prior Audit Finding 2024-003: Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses Cutoff Issues 

The auditors identified a significant deficiency in the Organization’s accounts payable and accrual 
cutoff procedures, noting that certain expenses were recorded in the incorrect fiscal year. In 
response, a detailed cutoff policy was adopted, supported by staff training to identify and accrue 
outstanding liabilities. Automation within the accounting system was enhanced to flag unrecorded 
items nearing period close. This issue has been fully resolved. Completed April 30, 2025. 
 
Prior Audit Finding 2024-004: Procurement and Suspension and Debarment – Procurement 
Process 
Program Name: National Endowment for the Arts - Promotion of the Humanities Challenge Grants.  
Assistance Listing Number: ALN 45.130 
 
This finding related to procurement processes, specifically the failure to verify vendor suspension 
and debarment status prior to utilizing vendors for purchases funded by federal awards. 
Management revised procurement procedures to require suspension/debarment checks through the 
System for Award Management (SAM.gov) as part of the vendor onboarding process. A quarterly 
review protocol was also introduced. This matter has been fully resolved. Completed March 31, 
2025. 
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